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our valuesour Missionour vision

TO secure the profitability of our company by 
providing freight  forwarders with unrivalled 
competitive advantage in their operations 
worldwide

TO secure and strengthen the company’s 
position in a growing and changing air cargo 
market

TO add value for customers, shareholders 
and employees

WE stand for integrity, tolerance and 
teamwork

WE set ourselves the highest standards and 
we deliver on our promises

WE succeed through the quality of our 
relationships

WE value every contribution made by our 
employees to securing the profitability of our 
company

WE abide by the laws and regulations 
governing our activities

WE respect the environment and 
communities within which we operate

OuR vision is to become the undisputed 
global leader in air cargo
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ChairMan’s letter 
A STRONGER CARGOLUX EMERGES FROM AN 
EXCEPTIONALLY TOUGH YEAR

In many respects, 2009 – up to the recovery towards the 
end of the year – presented all the elements of a perfect 
storm:

  violent, 

 furious,

 unpredictable,

  devastating!

The skipper on board had a really tough time to navigate sa-
fely to the shore and some external help was needed.

It became apparent early in the year that this was not an 
“ordinary” cyclical downturn, as this industry has known 
and Cargolux successfully weathered many times. Indeed 
by the beginning of the second quarter, we knew we were 
in un-chartered territory and that simple network chan-
ges and cost-saving measures, as foreseen in the budget, 
would not suffice to get us out of trouble. 

The option to park aircraft in the desert presented limited 
attraction in Cargolux’s  case because we have no other leg 
– such as belly capacity – to stand on. 
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Fortunately, we had made arrangements prior to the crisis 
to dispose of two aircraft in the Summer. And luckily, if I 
may say, the 747-8 program suffered delays. 

This notwithstanding, there was a doubt whether we would 
make it through the storm. An external consultant was 
brought in to validate Cargolux’s long term viability under 
its current business model and positioning in the air cargo 
industry and to assist Management in the development of 
a survival / turnaround plan. This firm worked closely with 
the Board to which it presented its findings numerous ti-
mes during the Summer. In September, the Board approved 
a survival plan which was successfully implemented du-
ring the balance of the year. 

In times of crisis Cargolux’s Shareholders had to act decisi-
vely and they did: 

With the help of the Luxembourg Government – who the-
reby became a direct Shareholder in Cargolux – Luxair, 
BCEE and SNCI bought out SAirlines to enable a capital and 
ownership restructuring; the former to provide sufficient 
liquidity, the latter to provide the necessary stability. 

The other Stakeholders of the Company also contributed to 
the turnaround plan:

  Our Lenders and Lessors accepted to grant waivers 
and continue to extend credit at pre-crisis terms & 
conditions.

  ExIm Bank in particular agreed to support the long term 
development of the Company and its fleet renewal, 
which is a key element of our long-term success and 
speedy return to sustainable profitability.

  The State guaranteed a EuR 100 million stand-by cre-
dit facility to ensure that the Company has at all times 
sufficient access to liquidity, including to fund pre- 
delivery deposits to Boeing.

  Our Suppliers stood behind us, Boeing in particular. 
We signed a comprehensive Agreement with Boeing in 
December to settle all issues arising from the delay of 
new aircraft deliveries. under this Agreement, the next 
generation freighters will be delivered under a more 
flexible and financially digestible schedule.

As the market strongly picked up in the last quarter, Car-
golux was quickly back on its feet and, today, Cargolux is 
positioned to fully benefit from the recovery:

  The bad news – with the exception of the uS class actions 
– are behind us and adequately provisioned.

  The funding for the six next aircraft is secured.

  Cargolux’s position in the market place has been main-
tained or strengthened.

This does not mean that the Company has become com-
placent or less vigilant. The economy in many important 
markets remains sluggish and unemployment is high. 
2010 will therefore also be challenging - even if to a lesser 
degree than 2009. We are confident that Cargolux will not 
only survive but strive and succeed.

I wish to thank you all for your continued support and assure 
you that we will make sure that it was not misplaced.

Marc HOFFMANN
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
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Ceo’s letter 
CONFRONTING THE CRISIS
2009 was one of the toughest years in Cargolux’s 40-year 
history. The air cargo market collapsed because the world’s 
major economies simultaneously went into recession. The 
first seven months of 2009 saw a progressive deteriora-
tion in the air cargo market as demand for capital goods as 
well as high value capital goods dried up and companies 
ran down inventories in anticipation of a long crisis. 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
In comparison to 2008 we lost over 10% of our freight volu-
me and one third of our revenues whereas operating costs 
only decreased by about 20%. As a result, Cargolux lost al-
most five years of growth in the crisis (measured in freight 
tonne kilometers) and closed the year with a pre-tax loss of 
uS$153 million. Management enhanced liquidity in 2009 
by the means of a State guaranteed credit line (EuR100 
million). The balance sheet has been strengthened with 
the buy-out of the SAir Group shares and a uS$100 million 
capital increase. Furthermore the capital expenditure pipe-
line has been restructured with the deferral of new aircraft 
deliveries to be in line with current growth expectations.  
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ENvIRONMENT ANd SOCIAL RESPONSIbILITY 
Although 2009 proved to be one of the most difficult years 
in Cargolux’s history, the company managed to navigate 
through the difficult economical climate without compul-
sory redundancies. While economic measures were taken 
to safeguard the survival of the company and to reduce the 
company’s manpower through the year, these were all vo-
luntary measures such as part-time work, early retirement 
and sabbatical leave. 

Even in difficult times, Cargolux pursues environment-
conscious air cargo operations.  The 747-8F, with its new 
engines, innovative aerodynamic design and further deve-
loped noise-reduction technologies, will allow Cargolux to 
further reduce the environmental footprint in terms of fuel 
consumption, CO2 emissions and noise disturbances. 

As signatory of the united Nations Global Compact, Cargo-
lux is committed to align its policies and practices to the 
uNGC ten principles. We are particularly proud to have com-
pleted the ISO 14001 certification of our flight operations 
and have undertaken a wide-ranging review of our code 
of ethics, focusing in particular on developing the highest 
company standards in terms of corporate compliance. 

 

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR
Cargolux is continuously seeking new opportunities and, 
even in a depressed market environment, was able to 
launch the Cargolux Italia operations with one fully dedica-
ted aircraft in Milano. 

Mid 2009, the Maintenance and Engineering division mo-
ved into its newly built two-bay hangar facility at Luxem-
bourg airport. This state-of-the-art facility offers the best 
possible working conditions both in terms of efficiency and 
security.

OUTLOOk / PREPARING FOR THE FUTURE
We observed over the last months a strong shift in the 
purchasing habits of retailers and manufacturers towards 
maintaining just-in-time inventories. With air cargo mar-
kets recovering, faster reaction to market demand is re-
quired. In the fourth quarter of 2009 we saw first positive 
results in terms of market pickup and also as a result of the 
impact from cost saving measures. These are encouraging 
trends but will not necessarily be a guarantee of long term, 
sustainable recovery in air cargo traffic as the global eco-
nomic outlook remains uncertain. For 2010, Cargolux still 
foresees a loss and manages this transition year by pre-
serving revenues and maintaining cost reductions achie-
ved in 2009. As in the first quarter of 2010 Cargolux over 

performed its budget target, confidence increases that we 
are getting out of the troubled waters. The return into ser-
vice of previously parked aircraft in combination with up-
coming new deliveries from the manufacturers may result 
in a longer dry spell before the air cargo market returns to 
pre-crisis profitability. 

No doubt, 2009 will be remembered in our history as a year 
of drastic changes in the markets. 2010 will remain chal-
lenging. Going forward, however, we are equipped for the 
future, based on a strengthened capital structure and a 
more efficient fleet, as the refleeting commences this year. 
I wish to express my thanks to all our employees for their 
continued dedication, our lenders and our shareholders 
for their precious support and, of course our customers for 
their loyalty throughout this difficult year.

Luxembourg, April 12, 2010

Ulrich OGIERMANN
PRESIDENT AND CEO
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highlights  
Consolidated figures 

year ended 
DECEMBER 31, 2009

 2009 2008 2007 2006

TOTAL INCOME IN uS$ ‘000 1,352,259 1,984,675 1,682,921 1,551,527
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE yEAR IN uS$ ‘000 (153,301) (61,043) (47,099) 82,637
SHAREHOLDERS’ EquITy IN uS$ ‘000 469,508 454,240 616,019 666,542
TONNES CARRIED 627,813  703,601 702,765 650,947
TONNE-kILOMETERS FLOWN (MILLIONS) 4,800 5,411 5,537 5,271
AVAILABLE TONNE-kILOMETERS (MILLIONS) 6,954 7,664 7,576 7,281
NuMBER OF EMPLOyEES WORLDWIDE 1,482 1,530 1,491 1,446
HEADquARTERS 1,110 1,155 1,105 1,081

FLEET     

BOEING 747-400F 14 16 15 14

AIRCRAFT ON ORdER    

BOEING 747-400F - - 1 2
BOEING 747-8F 13 13 13 10

AIRCRAFT SUbjECT TO FORwARd SALE AGREEMENTS 4 6 4 0
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governanCe
AT DECEMBER 31, 2009
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dAvId ARENdT
Executive Vice President  
and Chief Financial Officer

RObERT vAN dE wEG
Sr Vice President,  
Sales, Marketing  
and Ground Services

PETER vAN dE PAS
Sr Vice President  
and Chief Operating Officer

ULRICH OGIERMANN
President  
and Chief Executive Officer

ExECuTIVE COMMITTEE
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Corporate  
governanCe

AT DECEMBER 31, 2009

BOARD OF DIRECTORS at december 31, 2009*

MARC HOFFMANN
Chairman of Luxair  
Chairman

jEAN-CLAUdE FINCk

President & CEO of Banque et Caisse d’Epargne de l’Etat 
Director 

ALAIN GEORGES
Chairman of BIP Investment Partners 
Director

PIERRE GRAMEGNA
Director General Chambre de Commerce 
Director

jEAN-CLAUdE kNEbELER
Secrétaire de Légation 1er en rang 
Director

AdRIEN NEY
President and CEO, Luxair 
Director

MAX NILLES
Attaché de Gouvernement 
Member of the Board of Luxair 
Director

FRANk REIMEN
Premier Conseiller de Gouvernement 
Director

Société Nationale de Crédit et d’Investissement, represented by 
GASTON REINESCH, President 
Director

FRANçOISE THOMA
Member of the Management Board of  
Banque et Caisse d’Epargne de l’Etat 
Director

PIERRE-OLIvIER EdOUARd
First Officer Senior
Staff Representative

GEORGE kARAMbILAS
Captain
Staff Representative

FREd LOPES dA SILvA
Technician (Sr), L&H MTCE
Staff Representative

dAvId MASSARO
Supervisor (Sr) Material Repairs
Staff Representative

ASTRId MOSEL-kNEIP
Permanent Delegate, Staff Delegation
Staff Representative

ROGER SIETZEN
Honorary Chairman of the Board

STRATEGy COMMITTEE

MARC HOFFMANN
Chairman of the Committee

jEAN-CLAUdE FINCk

ALAIN GEORGES

PIERRE GRAMEGNA

FRANk REIMEN 1

GASTON REINESCH

AuDIT COMMITTEE

MARC HOFFMANN
Chairman of the Committee

jEAN-CLAUdE FINCk

ALAIN GEORGES

PIERRE GRAMEGNA

MAX NILLES 

FRANk REIMEN 1

GASTON REINESCH

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

MARC HOFFMANN 
Chairman of the Committee 

jEAN-CLAUdE FINCk

ALAIN GEORGES

PIERRE GRAMEGNA

MAX NILLES

FRANk REIMEN 1

GASTON REINESCH

SHAREHOLDERS at december 31, 2009

52.1% 
Luxair 0,3% 

Others

8% 
Luxembourg State

39.6%
Luxembourg Financial Institutions 

(BCEE, SNCI, 
BIP Investment Partners, 

Lux-Avantage)

* The following Board Members served until the Extraordinary General Assembly of November 30, 2009: FRITz GROTz, ROLPH WINIGER, kARL WuTHRICH. 
 The following persons became Board Members on November 30, 2009: JEAN-CLAuDE kNEBELER, FRANk REIMEN, FRANçOISE THOMA, PIERRE-OLIVIER EDOuARD, GEORGE kARAMBILAS, FRED LOPES DA SILVA, DAVID MASSARO, ASTRID MOSEL-kNEIP. 

1  As of November 30, 2009, FRANk REIMEN replaces ROLPH WINIGER in the Strategy Committee, FRITz GROTz in the Audit Committee and kARL WuTHRICH in the Compensation Committee.
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GENERAL  

2009 was an ‘annus horribilis’ for Cargolux (and many 
other cargo carriers). The severe market decline which was 
witnessed towards the end of 2008 continued in 2009. 
Air cargo traffic (measured in freight tonne kilometers)  
decreased by 10.1% in 2009. This was the second consecu-
tive year of traffic decline (2008: -4%). IATA estimates that 
around three years of growth have been lost in air freight 
markets (Air Transport Market Analysis, January 2010). The 
adverse market conditions meant that, also for Cargolux, all 
key performance indicators turned firmly into red: tonnes 
carried: -10.8%; load factors: -1.6 ppt; average yield: -26.3%. 
This in turn resulted in heavy monthly losses and severe 
cash burn.

Given the magnitude of the accumulated losses, the Com-
pany prepared a turnaround plan which foresaw a contri-
bution of every stakeholder. This Plan was successfully  
implemented before year-end except for the planned  
savings in personnel costs. It resulted in the recapitaliza-
tion of the Company and restructuring of its ownership. The 
Company also signed a Settlement Agreement with Boeing 
pursuant to which the 747-8 deliveries will be stretched 
out in time. Finally, the Company obtained waivers from 
Lenders who are party to financings providing for year-
end compliance with an interest and rental coverage test 
(which was breached).

Improved trading conditions in the fourth quarter and a 
capital gain realized on the sale of two aircraft to uPS in 
September could only partially offset the losses of the first 
three quarters of the year. Existing hedging positions pre-
vented the Company to fully benefit from the low interest 
rate and fuel price environment. 

The net loss for the year was uS$ 153.3 million. The main 
reason for the after tax loss was an adjustment of the de-
ferred tax asset in the Balance Sheet. 

kEY PERFORMANCE INdICATORS  

Capacity, as measured by availabe tonne kilometers (ATk), 
decreased by 9.3%, reflecting the lower daily utilization of 
the fleet and the sale of Lx-FCV and Lx-ICV to uPS in Sep-
tember. Additional capacity was sourced via wet-leases 
in the fourth quarter of 2009. The Company’s production, 
as measured by freight tonne kilometers (FTk), was 11.3% 
lower than in 2008. 

Based on IATA statistics and measured by internatio-
nal FTks, Cargolux’s global market share was about 4%,  
approximately the same level as in the year before. Load 
factors dropped to 69.0% or by 1.6 percentage points on 
the prior year. 

Average system yield (uS$/kg) was uS$ 2.05, down 26.3% 
versus 2008, partially driven by a 57.2% drop of the fuel 
surcharge revenue. Ex Europe yields were also negatively 
affected by the EuR/uS$ exchange rate. The underlying 
yields and demand for air cargo uplift ex Asia, the Middle 
East and the Americas were under severe pressure in the 
first three quarters, but saw significant improvements  
towards the end of the year. Daily average aircraft utiliza-
tion of the Company’s fleet was 14:34 block hours, down 
6.7% on the 2008 average.

MARkETS ANd NETwORk 

2009 was the worst year in airfreight in history. Markets 
dropped by over 20% (measured in FTk s) in the first half of 
the year. There was a significant gap between supply and 
demand during this period. This led in turn to load factor  
reductions and a significant yield decline. In the second 
half of the year, markets rapidly recovered and the year en-
ded with a strong peak season. At the end of 2009, yields 
had almost recovered to ‘pre-crisis’ levels.

In terms of tonnage sold, all areas recorded a significant 
decline:

 uS and South America: - 12.1% 
 Europe - 7.8%
 Asia - 18.6%

The exception was the area Middle East / East Africa where 
we recorded a volume growth of 12.9% because we opera-
ted more ‘turn around flights’ in the Persian Gulf (flights 
that would normally have continued eastbound to pick-up 
Asian exports). Overall tonnes sold decreased by 10.8% to 
627,813 tonnes. 
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TOTAL INCOME
CONSOLIDATED, IN uS$ ‘000

2006 20082007 2009

1,551,527
1,682,921

1,984,675

1,352,259



under the difficult market conditions network management 
was a challenge. Many short term and long-term network 
changes had to be made to deal with the extreme market 
volatility.

Various stations, among them Vienna, Helsinki, Istanbul, 
Toronto and Cairo, had to be closed. 

Cargolux Italia, an affiliate of Cargolux, started operations 
in the summer of 2009. At the end of the year, Cargolux Ita-
lia operated a schedule of three weekly Milan/Dubai/Hong 
kong/Milan services. Furthermore, the first phase of an Eu-
uS open skies agreement became effective and allowed  
Cargolux to operate flights from Milan to New york and 
Chicago in early 2009. 

PROFIT ANd LOSS ACCOUNT

Revenues decreased by 33.8% from uS$ 1,983.2 million to 
uS$ 1,313.7 million. 19.6% of the revenues, or uS$ 257.3 
million, was accounted for by the fuel surcharge, down 
57.2% on 2008.

Other Operating Income increased to uS$ 38.5 million 
from uS$ 1.5 million in 2008 mainly due to the sale of two  
B747-400F.

Aircraft Lease Expenses were down by uS$ 18.3 million 
or 23.3%. The main reasons for the decline were lower dry 
lease cost (down uS$ 4.5 million to uS$ 52.3 million, prima-
rily due to the classification to finance lease of the finan-

cing arrangement covering Lx-MCV following the exercise 
of a purchase option on that aircraft by the Company), as 
well as lower ACMI expenses, down 63.3% to uS$ 8.1 million 
from uS$ 21.9 million in 2008. 

Aircraft Maintenance Expenses (outsourced) went down 
5.6% to uS$ 96.2 million from uS$ 101.8 million following 
the change of the D-check provider and (as from June) the 
insourcing of C-checks. Other Aircraft Expenses represent 
premiums paid to insure the Company’s fleet and went up 
by 20.6% to uS$ 3.8 million. 

Depreciation increased by 9.7% to uS$ 61.6 million, mainly 
because of the classification to finance lease of the finan-
cing covering the aircraft mentioned above and the purcha-
se of a new aircraft under finance lease during the second 
half of 2008 (Lx-yCV).

Fuel cost (including the result of fuel hedging) decreased 
by 44.1% to uS$ 522.5 million and now represents 37% of 
total cost. Hedging losses of uS$ 51.6 million were mitiga-
ted by uS$ 16.8 million of unrealized hedging gains rela-
ted to the positions taken before the balance sheet date to  
cover the Company’s exposure to higher fuel prices in 2010 
and 2011. 

Personnel Costs and Benefits went down 2.1% to  
uS$ 209.4 million. The overall salary component went 
down by 1.8% and, in Euro terms, the salary of all Luxem-

bourg-based staff went up 3.7%, mainly due to mandatory 
salary indexation and time units. 

Handling, Landing and Overflying costs declined by 11.8% 
to uS$ 239.0 million. Handling charges went down 12.6% 
due to the decrease of cycles flown (-8.8%), the lower  
freight tonnage carried (-10.8%) and the depreciation of the 
EuR and other currencies versus the uS$ (-3.0%). Landing 
charges dropped by 9.5%, driven by the lower number of 
cycles and the foreign exchange impact (-2.5%). Overflying 
charges decreased by 11.6%, mainly due to a reduction 
in block hours (-9.3%) and the foreign exchange impact 
(-2.6%). Landing and overflying costs were also influenced 
by network changes reducing activity in areas with relati-
vely high roundtrip costs such as Asia. 

Trucking, Interlining and Truck handling decreased by 
20.3% to uS$ 93.1 million. The trucking and truck handling 
cost decrease was due to unit rate reductions (-4.4%),  
exchange rate fluctuations (-5.2%) and fewer tonnes sold 
(-10.8%).

finanCial review  
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Other Operating Expenses, including GSA commissions, IT 
services, travel & entertainment, office rental and equip-
ment, legal, audit and consulting fees, telecommunication 
expenses, net worth tax, etc. decreased by 35.8% to uS$ 
125.4 million. It is also under this line item that the Com-
pany booked a provision of uS$ 77.7 million in the 2008 ac-
counts with respect to the Company’s exposure to the anti-
trust proceedings in the uS, Australia and New zealand. In 
2009, new provisions related to the anti-trust proceedings 
in Canada, South korea and Switzerland were booked but 
could be compensated by the downwards adjustment of 
the Eu anti-trust provision. 

EBIT for the year stood at uS$ -59.1 million compared to 
uS$ 13.8 million in 2008. Financial income decreased 
by 26.7% to uS$ 6.8 million and Financial expenses in-
creased by 45.0% to uS$ 72.3 million. The main reasons for 
this increase relates to the classification to finance lease 
of the financing for aircraft Lx-MCV, debt service on one  
additional aircraft (Lx-yCV), accrual of interest on provisions  
taken with respect of anti-trust fines (uS$ 8.8 million) and 
a negative marked-to market of the Company’s interest 
rate hedging portfolio (uS$ 21.4 million) primarily due to 
the reclassification from hedge accounting to fair value 
accounting of 3 transactions covering 747-8 aircraft, the 
delivery of which was postponed. Net Finance Costs were 
uS$ 65.5 million (2008: uS$ 40.6 million). 

Loss Before Tax was uS$ 122.3 million (2008: uS$ 22.9 
million). Consolidated net after tax loss was uS$ 153.3 mil-
lion (2008: uS$ 61.0 million). The reasons for the negative 
tax adjustment are discussed below. 

TAX AdjUSTMENTS
Current tax for the year amounts to uS$ 0.4 million versus 
uS$ 3.1 million in 2008. As in 2008, the Company suffers 
a substantial adjustment of deferred taxes. The main 
reasons for the uS$ 30.6 million adjustments are the conse-
quence of the reversal of unused/expired Investment Tax  
Credits (ITC) and taxes being assessed on the basis of a tax  
balance sheet which requires significant accounting chan-
ges from IFRS. ITC can be carried forward for 10 years; 
unused they expire. The downwards adjustment of the 
deferred tax asset due to unused ITC was partially offset 
by the benefit of tax losses which can be carried forward 
indefinitely.

After these adjustments, the net after tax loss for 2009 
equals uS$ 153.3 million (2008: uS$ 61.0 million).

bALANCE SHEET
Total Assets went down 12.9% to uS$ 1,670.1 million 
from uS$ 1,917.3 million. This is primarily due to the 
sale of two B747-400F aircraft and the reduction of the 
deferred tax asset. Despite the loss for the fiscal year  
Shareholders’ Equity increased by 3.4% to uS$ 469.5 mil-

lion from uS$ 454.2 million following (i) the Company’s  
capital restructuring in November and December 2009 
(see below), and (ii) the positive impact of the interest rate 
derivative portfolio which is hedge accounted. 

In compliance with articles 26-5 and 69(4) of the Luxem-
bourg company law, the capital restructuring was effected 
as follows:

  Reduction of capital from uS$ 360.0 million to  
uS$ 150.0 million through (i) absorption of losses 
of uS$ 177.5 million incurred in prior year and up to  
October 31, 2009 and (ii) allocating uS$ 32.5 million to 
a new un-distributable reserve.

  Capital increase of uS$ 100 million by issuance of 
4,000,000 class B shares subscribed to by all the  
shareholders except the Luxembourg State and one 
individual shareholder.

1616
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Interest-bearing liabilities (including finance leases)  
decreased by 22.0% to uS$ 623.3 million from uS$ 799.0 
million. The decrease is mainly due the balloon payment 
on two loans which matured in 2009 (Lx-LCV and Lx-RCV), 
repayment of the new hangar financing facility and of the 
financing facility for the B747-400 Flight Simulator. Cash 
and cash equivalents and Other investments increased 
by 42.7% from uS$ 192.0 million to uS$ 274.0 million. Net 
financial gearing amounted to 74.4%. Net adjusted gearing 
(to take into account the present value of future lease  
payments) was 121.0% (2008: 174.8%).

FLEET dEvELOPMENT

In January 2010 the Company agreed with uPS to postpone 
the delivery of Lx-GCV and Lx-LCV to 2011.The Company  
foresees to make flexible dry-lease and/or wet-lease, 
arrangements in 2010 to adjust its capacity to market re-
quirements in the event of a continued recovery of the air 
cargo market.

bRANCH NETwORk

The Company operates worldwide through a network of 
branches established in 34 countries (2008:35). 

CONSOLIdATION 

The consolidated accounts comprise Cargolux RE S.A., a 
captive reinsurance company, Cargolux Italia S.p.A., an 
Italian all cargo airline and an Italian investment company, 
Italia Aerologistics S.R.L. In addition, the Company equity 
accounts in its consolidated financial statements its par-
ticipations in Champ Cargosystems S.A. (49%), Luxfuel S.A. 
(30%) and Freighter Leasing S.A. (33.3%).

OUTLOOk ANd RECENT dEvELOPMENTS

Since the low point reached in December 2008, air freight 
volumes have risen some 28%. The upturn in traffic, which 
was particularly strong towards the end of 2009, continued 
into 2010.

As a result of the uS$ 100 million capital injection by the 
Shareholders in December 2009, the EuR 100 million State 

guaranteed standby credit facility put into place (also in  
December) and the proceeds of a further aircraft sale to 
take place in October, the Company has adequate liquidity 
to weather another tough year. Additionally, the Board of 
Directors would initiate a further capital injection (up to 
uS$ 100 million) in the event the Company would breach 
a solvency ratio foreseen in certain loan agreements or as 
otherwise required for the business, as determined by the 
Board of Directors.

With the active support given to it by its shareholders, its 
lenders, its suppliers and the Luxembourg Government, 
the Company is well positioned to brace the future.

On March 19, 2010, the Company signed a Memorandum 
of understanding with the Delegations and unions. This 
MOu foresees that the Collective Work Agreement, which 
expired in 2009, will be re-conducted for a two-year period  
ending on December 31, 2010. The MOu further provides 
that the 13th month payment of December would be post-
poned in whole or in part if the Company incurs further  
losses in 2010.
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overall business 
review The financial crisis that unfolded in 2008 began to signifi-

cantly affect the air cargo business in the first quarter of 
2009 and caused a decline in freight volume of well over 
20%. This led to immediate overcapacity with dire conse-
quences for the industry and Cargolux.

The industry encountered massive losses and was forced 
to initiate capacity reductions. Some airlines had to re-eva-
luate their cargo operation alltogether and focused on belly 
capacity, using freighters only as a contributing element to 
the belly operation and not as a standalone operation.

Cargolux saw a reduction in fleet utilization and load fac-
tors, but, most importantly, a reduction in yields. In 2009, 
tonnage declined by close to 11% but yields were down by 
over 26%. 

Because Cargolux, like any airline, incurs a high degree of 
fixed costs, we elected to continue to operate as long as 
flights would contribute to covering these costs. This ap-
proach led to reduced utilization per aircraft in the first nine 
months of the year, whereas, in the last three months, utili-
zation returned to historically high levels. 

During this crisis, we were able to leverage the strength 
of Cargolux: the ability to deal with changes quickly and 
adapt our network. We could implement short-notice flight 
changes whenever necessary to follow the frequent mar-
ket shifts. 

We could react quickly to avoid too much cash bleed and 
maximize cash flow. This required a very close cooperation 
between the commercial department, flight operations and 
maintenance and enabled us to operate a network that was 
as flexible as possible.

As a consequence of the market situation and our response 
to it, our daily average aircraft utilization declined by 6.7% 
to 14:34 hours. Total block hours for 2009 decreased by 
9.3% to 83,102.

The market yield (gross, including surcharges) declined by 
26.3%, while our underlying rate declined by 13.8%. We saw 
a drop in tonnage versus 2008 of 10.8% to 627,813 tonnes.

Freight tonne kilometers were down by 11.3% to 4,800 
million while available tonne kilometers reached 6,953 
million, a reduction of 9.3%. The average load factor for the 
year declined by 1.6 points to 69%. (All figures include data 
for Cargolux Airlines International S.A. and Cargolux Italia 
S.p.A.).

NETwORk

The crisis affected all Cargolux destinations and areas. 
We temporarily reduced capacity on all routes and closed 
a number of destinations, including Vienna, Istanbul,   
Toronto, Helsinki and Cairo. No new destinations joined our 
network in 2009.

TOTAL TONNES CARRIEd
IN METRIC TONNES

2006

650,947

702,765 703,601

627,813

20082007 2009



MARkET SHARE

Despite the worldwide decline and operating with reduced 
capacity, we could keep our market share stable at around 4%.

FLEET

Cargolux kept its fleet of 16 B747-400Fs in operation. 
However, a lower utilization of each aircraft meant that, 
in practice, we had the equivalent of two aircraft on the 
ground during the months of June and July. 

In September, we delivered two aircraft to uPS under a tran-
saction that had been concluded before the crisis and was 
intended to facilitate the planned introduction of our new 
B747-8 freighters in 2009. However, by the time those two 
aircraft left our fleet, we actually found ourselves in need 
of more capacity, as the markets began to rebound. 

We therefore wet leased B747-200F capacity to cover peak 
season demand. 

dELAY OF THE -8

The production delay of Boeing’s new flagship, the B747-
8F, has pushed the first delivery to Cargolux from 2009 to 
late 2010. 

Cargolux saw this development with mixed emotions. On 
one hand, the delay helped us to preserve much-needed 
cash. On the other hand, we could have well used the added 
efficiency, lower fuel consumption, higher range and pay-
load to reduce our operating costs. To sum it up: financially, 
the delay was helpful, operationally, it was not.

SILvER LINING

The last months of the year, the traditional peak season in 
airfreight, brought strong demand and a return of the yield 
to almost pre-crisis levels.

CARGOLUX ITALIA

In 2009, Cargolux Italia SpA was established with a base in 
Milan, Italy. The new airline operates one B747-400 freigh-
ter on lease from Cargolux Airlines International S.A., which 
acts as a General Sales Agent and supplies services to the 
Italian carrier.

Cargolux Italia started up with two weekly flights between 
Milan, Dubai and Hong kong. A third frequency was soon added. 

TONNE-kILOMETERS FLOwN
IN MILLIONS

2006

5,537
5,411

4,800

5,271

20082007 2009
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AREA bY AREA

We saw the most significant reduction in Asia where tonna-
ge was also most severely affected. However, Asia also saw 
the fastest recovery of all areas, once the market began to 
pick up again. Europe was affected to a lesser extent, but 
recovery here was much slower. Perishable shipments out 
of Africa and South America had the lowest decline rate, but 
were also the slowest to pick up. 

AREA 1 – THE AMERICAS

While going through one of its toughest years, Area 1 ulti-
mately beat significant odds and produced a result that is 
ahead of many of our competitors. The area moved a total 
of 114,261 tonnes.

Although we felt significant pressure on yields, our under-
lying yield in North America was fairly constant and, by the 
end of 2009, was at the same level as in 2008. yields out of 
South America saw a decline of 13%, this was partly caused 
by an increase in fifth freedom traffic within South Ame-
rica, as well as a weakened Brazilian export market.

As in previous years, North America focused on network 
cargo; this means we actively sold destinations beyond 
our hub in Luxembourg that tie in with Cargolux’s extensive 
route network to the Middle East and Africa. We registered 
another increase of 9.35% in this traffic; this constitutes a 
significant achievement and one that actively contributed 
to Cargolux maintaining such strong load factors out of 
North America. 

A significant area of growth for the Americas was our char-
ter activity. We operated 19 charter and part-charter flights, 
achieving total revenues of uS$4.3 million. Additionally, we 
operated seven extra sections as scheduled flight.

South America gained additional fifth freedom traffic rights 
to Ecuador, Columbia, in March 2009; these brought ano-
ther 1,000 tonnes of freight to existing flights. 

AREA 2 –EUROPE, CENTRAL ASIA ANd wEST AFRICA

In 2009, our Area 2 showed a relatively small decline of 7.8% 
in terms of tonnage compared to 2008. The area produced 
266,000 tonnes, a good performance in view of the crisis 
situation. In the main European markets, we even managed 
to increase our market share considerably, with an average 
growth of 8.5%.  

The share of Area 2 in the overall company production was 
43%. Including transit cargo also handled by the area, it re-
presented 51% of the overall Cargolux tonnage. 

Revenues declined by 39% compared to 2008. This was 
mainly due to the steep rate deterioration prevailing all 
over the market.

under these circumstances, the difficult mission was to 
monitor the market development in order to optimize yields 
and revenue.  

Because of our network design, in which Middle East stop-
overs play an important role on Asia-bound services, we 
managed to maintain higher rates on the Asian routes than 
our competitors. The Asian market decline could partly be 
compensated by higher volumes to the Middle East, rising 
by 26% in 2009 compared to 2008, thus representing the 
biggest tonnage increase.

In Africa, the set-up of on-forwarding possibilities to Pointe 
Noire, Port Gentil and other destinations further increased 
oil-related traffic between the united States, Scotland and 
other origins to these points in Africa. Northbound, our pe-
rishables market remained stable.

The North Atlantic traffic was reduced due to consolidation 
on our West Coast routes, while the uS East Coast develo-
ped quite well with an increase in tonnage of nearly 10%. 

Our South and Central American destinations continued 
their healthy development with two rounds of rate in-
creases on the back of strong demand.

AREA 3 – ASIA PACIFIC

2009 was a year of ups and downs in Asia. After several 
consecutive years of booming growth, the area went throu-
gh some difficult moments in the first two quarters before 
the market stabilized somewhat. Because we were prepa-
red for a market rebound towards the second half of the 
year, we could react swiftly to the positive developments 
in the last quarter. 

Throughout the year, Area 3 operated 1,418 flights, inclu-
ding 47 charters, and carried a total of 160,000 tonnes, 
including fifth freedom traffic. 

We took various measures to best position ourselves du-
ring the difficult times. When demand for space from the 
Asia Pacific region to Europe lessened, Cargolux stations 
targeted new markets other than the prime markets in Eu-
rope. Hong kong operated a direct service to Lagos in Africa 
while Hong kong, Ho Chi Minh City and Bangkok promoted 
Dubai in order to raise load factors. Singapore, Beijing, kua-
la Lumpur and Shanghai offered services to South America, 
Africa and the Middle East via our hub in Luxembourg. 
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The area renewed its attempts to carry project shipments 
on short notice out of New Delhi, India. Some of these stra-
tegies turned out to be very effective in view of weaker 
competition, changing trading behaviors and the unprece-
dented global economic situation. 

In response to overcapacity and low rates, we suspended 
certain routes and combined others, such as some flights 
in South East Asia and North Asia. A Beijing, xiamen and  
komatsu frequency, as well as a few Hong kong frequen-
cies were suspended. Again, these strategies helped load 
factors and yields to stabilize. 

As the GSA for Cargolux Italia in Asia, Cargolux Hong kong 
witnessed the Italian carrier’s maiden flight to Malpensa 
in June. The twice-weekly service was expanded to three 
flights in September as Hong kong customers welcomed 
and supported a direct flight to Milan. In the last quarter 
of 2009, in addition to the chartered flights, Hong kong 
and Shanghai operated regular extra flights to cope with 
increased market demands. Maximizing revenue by com-
bining certain flights, the area promoted fifth freedom 
sectors such as Ho Chi Minh City to Hong kong, komatsu to 
Taipei, Taipei to Bangkok and Bangkok to Hong kong.

Area 3 remained alert and was opened to various new busi-
ness opportunities throughout the year. In the unique mar-
ket situation of 2009, we received substantial enquiries 
and requests for charter flights when the market picked up 
again. We operated a good number of charters out of Hong 
kong, Shanghai, Singapore and Taiwan. Customers who 
experienced the effects of the highly volatile market were 
more receptive to maintaining contractual relationships to 
ensure stable and reliable services. 

No single strategy worked well in all cases and at all times 
in 2009. Area 3 did its best to react quickly to fluctuating 
market situations. Most important of all, Cargolux was res-
ponsive to customers’ demands. 

AREA 4 – MIddLE EAST, SOUTH ANd EAST AFRICA

Dubai was somewhat less affected by the economic crisis 
than the rest of our network. Business in the region went 
on as usual with major construction projects, including the 
Burj khalifa, the world’s tallest building, under completion.

With the economic downturn, the Middle East became a fo-
cal point for Cargolux’s strategy and many Asian flights by 
Cargolux and other airlines were redirected to the Gulf mar-
ket. As a result, forwarders had an array of options, which 
drastically brought down the rates.

The revenues produced by the area declined slightly, by 
2,5% against 2008. Tonnage grew by 12.9% and reached 
79,485 tonnes. 

In 2009, sea-air volumes dropped by 40% compared to 
2008, but the second half of the year saw an unpreceden-
ted increase in demand for capacity. Sea-air cargo charters 
were operated at round trip prices. 

Nairobi has boasted an annual growth rate of 15% for al-
most two decades, but, for the first time, the kenya flower 
industry registered a decline in the period up to September 
2009 with tonnage down to 80,000 tonnes, compared with 
120,000 tonnes in 2008.

European flower auction turnover in August 2009 de-
creased by 15.9% compared to the same month in 2008. 
The cut-flower market, which usually improves at the be-
ginning of August, started to pick up only towards the se-
cond week of September. 

Cargolux continued to strengthen its position as a reliable 
and committed partner for flower transports from kenya 
and zambia to Europe, carrying about 1,000 tonnes per 
week. During the peak season, we were able to add an addi-
tional frequency to Lusaka, zambia. Two additional weekly 
flights were also added to Nairobi to cope with increased 
demand during the Christmas period.

CHARTER

With overcapacity on scheduled flights and growing com-
petition, charter prices declined to historically low levels 
during the first nine months of 2009.

Especially the automotive industry, driven by cost cutting 
measures, operated less than half as many charter flights 
as they did the year before. Telecommunication charters 
were down by 30%.

The last three months saw a recovery of charter demand 
and Cargolux operated up to three leased-in aircraft to  
satisfy the increased demand of our customers. This was 
driven by the reviving Chinese economy and assisted by 
the fact that many airlines had reduced their active fleets.

In 2009, we operated 109 charter flights, well below the 
average of previous years, but the positive developments 
at the end of the year leave us optimistic for 2010.

OUTLOOk 2010

Towards the end of 2009, we saw an upwards trend that 
continued through the first weeks of 2010. The supply/
demand ratio has restored itself and yields have picked 
up. Meanwhile, we are in the process of dry-leasing a  
B747-400BCF in order to capitalize on this situation and to 
leverage our fixed cost base. We will start our fleet repla-
cement program with the planned delivery of our first two 
B747-8Fs in late 2010, while one B747-400F will be handed 
over to Silkway this fall.
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RELIAbLE OPERATION

The Maintenance and Engineering Division of Cargolux 
is responsible for the technical status of the Cargolux  
B747-400F freighter aircraft, ensuring a safe and on-time 
operation of the Cargolux fleet. Additionally, we support 
third-party customers in their maintenance requirements.

In 2009, the division has again raised the scheduled re-
liability of the Cargolux fleet from just over 98% in the pre-
vious year to 98.9%. This was made possible in no small 
way by moving the organization into the new maintenance 
center in May 2009.  As with the design and construction of 
the hangar, the move itself was well prepared and perfectly 
executed without any disruption in our maintenance acti-
vities. Tools and machinery were brought over on the week-
end of 15 May, right after the completion of the final check 
in the old hangar, and the first A-check in the new building 
started on Monday, 18 May.

The operation in the new maintenance center was successful 
from day one. The hangar offers two fully equipped main-
tenance bays that can accommodate wide body aircraft 
up to the size of the Airbus A380. The work space itself has 
been very well laid out and the concept has proved to be 
as effective as was hoped. Bringing all shops under one 
roof has also increased our productivity and efficiency as 
expected. The working environment for the Cargolux main-
tenance staff have improved considerably.

HEAvY MAINTENANCE

In 2009, one D-check and eight C-checks were performed 
on the Cargolux fleet. Of the C-Checks, one was executed by 
kLM Engineering and Maintenance, two by Singapore Airli-
nes’ maintenance division and the last five C-Checks were 
brought in-house after the opening of the Cargolux hangar. 

The Cargolux Maintenance and Engineering Division prepa-
red itself well for the expansion of the in-house activities 
and quickly adjusted to the execution of C-checks. By the 
end of the year, we were able to perform these checks with 
the same man-hours and within the same aircraft downtime 
as our previous providers. As a result, the Cargolux Mainte-
nance and Engineering division now includes the C-Check 
in its service portfolio and offers a competitive product to 
third-party customers who can enjoy all advantages of the 
professionalism and skills of our workforce.

At the end of 2009, the Cargolux Maintenance and Engi-
neering division employed a staff of 363. During 2009, the 
organization produced 430,000 man-hours, split between 
line, hangar and back shops. Roughly 10% of those were 
used for third-party customers.

CUSTOMER SERvICES

Due to the worldwide economic and financial crisis of 
2008/2009, we saw a decrease in third-party customer 
turnover, mainly driven by reduced line maintenance acti-
vities on our customers’ fleets due to their reduced sche-

dules. The revenue in 2009 reached uS$ 5.1 million. With 
the new maintenance center in full operation, we were 
already able to sign up new customers for hangar and back 
shop support. 2009 customers included Air Atlanta, Atlas 
Air, Bluebird Cargo, and Corsair. 

MAINTENANCE SOFTwARE

Cargolux is one of the companies that use the TRAx Main-
tenance software to its broadest extent. Cargolux also ac-
tively works with the TRAx developers to further enhance 
the software. 

In 2009, Cargolux successfully developed and introduced 
a new TRAx module, the resource management planning 
tool. This module is now fully operational and allows us to 
optimize the scheduling of maintenance activities and re-
quired staff levels. 

bOEING 747-8F ENTRY INTO SERvICE

Preparations for the introduction of the all-new Boeing 
747-8F into the Cargolux fleet continued throughout 2009, 
although at reduced levels due to the aircraft’s production 
delay at Boeing. Entry into service preparations will, howe-
ver, be a major topic for our maintenance and engineering 
division in 2010. 
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FLEET PERFORMANCE

With the handover of two B747-400Fs to uPS in September, 
the Cargolux fleet was reduced to 14 aircraft. Our daily air-
craft utilization went down by about an hour to 14:34 hours 
per day. Despite the reduction, Cargolux remains one of the 
industry leaders in that respect.

Our network punctuality improved to 61.9% of all flights that 
departed within one hour of schedule. The Cargolux Pitstop 
program, aimed at recovering operational delays, was ins-
trumental in recovering 1,036 hours of delay in 2009. The 
program is part of our standard  operating procedures.

A NEw SIMULATOR

Cargolux is the first customer of a Boeing 747-8F simulator, 
the first of its kind worldwide. Due to the delay of the air-
craft program at Boeing, delivery of the simulator was also 
pushed back to 2010, but preparations for the installation 
in Luxembourg began in 2009. The  simulator is built by CAE 
in Montreal, Canada; it will arrive at our training center in 
October 2010 and be fully operational in March 2011.

Together with Boeing, we have initiated a training program 
for our pilots that will begin in September 2010 and last 
until April 2011. Throughout the year, we have also worked 
with Boeing on the progress of the B747-8F itself, setting 
up procedures for the operation of the aircraft at Cargolux.

CARGOLUX ITALIA

Cargolux Operations was instrumental in building up the  
flight operations side for Cargolux Italia when that compa-
ny was established in Milan last year. In a major project that 
lasted all through 2009 we installed dedicated postholders 
for Flight Operations and Crew Training and facilitated the 
issuing of licenses and an Air Operator Certificate from 
ENAC, the Italian aviation authorities. Cargolux Airlines In-
ternational S.A. continues to support Cargolux Italia as its 
GSA and service provider.

IOSA

Cargolux is fully accredited under the IATA Operational  
Safety Audit Program, IOSA, since 2008. The accreditation 
certified that Cargolux’s operational management, quality, 
safety and security are on the highest level. In 2009, we 
passed our first IOSA renewal audit, which differed from the 
original one because IOSA constantly updates standards. 
The renewal audit was more demanding on documentation 
and auditors ensured that Cargolux implements the pro-
cesses and procedures in its operations manuals. With the 
renewal, IOSA made a clear and positive statement about 
the integrity of Cargolux’s operations and ability to ma-
nage associated risks. Further audits will take place every  
two years.

dAILY AIRCRAFT UTILIZATION
PER BOEING 747-400 FREIGHTER

2006

15:41

15:30
15:37

14:34

20082007 2009
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Corporate soCial 
responsibility 
The harsh economic climate that prevailed in 2009 forced Cargolux to focus on overcoming the 
crisis that affected the global air freight sector. This notwithstanding, we sought to maintain our 
momentum in the field of corporate social responsibility and, where possible, strengthen our 
actions. 

Cargolux ranks amongst its highest priorities to operate its fleet with the best possible fuel 
efficiency. Intercontinental air transport is a fuel-intensive activity and the atmospheric emissions 
from our aircraft represent by far the biggest environmental impact of the company. At the same 
time, Cargolux has a strong financial incentive to ensure that its fuel consumption remains as low 
as possible. Energy conservation and the fight against global warming is therefore the field that 
receives our highest attention in terms of environmental protection. 

As signatory of the United Nations Global Compact, Cargolux also seeks to align its actions and 
policies ever more closely to the UNGC ten principles. In spite of the difficult economic climate, 
progress has been achieved in several areas in 2009 and further actions are planned for coming 
years. We completed ISO 14001 certification of our flight operations, a process that culminated in 
passing the required audits in March 2009. We developed our internal waste management program 
in Luxembourg. We launched a fundamental review of our code of ethics, focusing particularly on 
developing the highest possible company standards in terms of corporate compliance.  
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We also sought to maintain and strengthen, where possible, our relations with many stakeholder groups. In particular 
we encouraged stakeholders in the commercial field to align their corporate social responsibility practices and to join 
the UN Global compact. We also undertook an intensive dialogue with staff representations on how to cope with the 
economic crisis. 

Beyond our shareholders and immediate commercial contacts (freight forwarders, handling agents, trucking 
companies, maintenance and IT suppliers), Cargolux lays particular importance on maintaining and developing 
contacts with neighboring communities of the airports where we operate, local non-governmental organizations,  
as well as schools and universities.

Various factors prevented us from reaching all the objectives we had set ourselves in 2009. Production delays at 
Boeing’s factory resulted in a postponement of our fleet renewal plans to the end of 2010, delaying by one year the 
arrival of our new, quieter and more fuel efficient generation of aircraft. Our original plans of extending ISO 14001 
certification beyond flight operations in 2009 proved overambitious as our Maintenance and Engineering division 
needed time to move and adapt to its new maintenance facility. 

Most importantly the global crisis forced the company to focus on overcoming this difficult period, resulting in slower 
progress in long-term projects aimed at improving our environmental performance. For example, less resources were 
available to install the new Iridium satellite communications system on our aircraft, and our trucking contractors’ fleet 
renewal schedule was temporarily slowed down.

Nevertheless, we are particularly proud to have been able to overcome this difficult year without dramatically 
downsizing the company and without resorting to compulsory redundancies. We were able to protect the jobs of  
our permanent employees, thanks to which the company will find itself on a stronger footing when the business 
climate improves.
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Cargolux
and the 
environMent As a long-haul cargo airline operating large aircraft, we mainly impact the environment through  

atmospheric emissions resulting from our fuel consumption, notably emissions of CO2 . A study undertaken 
in 2007 showed that our flight operations were responsible for over 98% of the CO2 emitted  
by the company – all other activities, including road feeder services, staff business travel, office heating  
and employee commuting represented less than 2% of total emissions. 

Consequently, our efforts focus primarily on controlling fuel consumption as far as possible  
and developing new operational techniques that allow us to reduce it even further.

Cargolux is also attentive to the other types of environmental impact of its activities. In particular,  
the company is conscious of the noise produced by its aircraft and takes action to reduce as far  
as possible disturbances to communities living around the airports where it operates, especially  
at its hub in Luxembourg. Since 2007, Cargolux has also been developing a comprehensive waste 
management program, which was extended in 2009 to include maintenance facilities as well as all office 
buildings at the company’s headquarters in Luxembourg. 

Cargolux 
and the 
environMent



I. ENERGY ANd ATMOSPHERIC EMISSIONS

In spite of the difficult business environment that prevailed 
in 2009, Cargolux has managed to maintain fuel-efficient 
flight operations. An analysis of the fuel burn of each flight 
made during the year shows that our aircraft burned on 
average 165 grams of fuel to transport one tonne of cargo 
over one km, which corresponds to CO2 emissions of 521 
grams per tonne-kilometer. 

Since 2008 Cargolux has improved its monitoring methods 
in terms of fuel consumption and was able to achieve grea-
ter precision in the underlying calculations that lead to this 
fuel burn ratio. In 2009 we fine-tuned our analysis and 
calculation method. As a consequence the 2009 result is 
more accurate than that of 2008. We therefore plan to use 
the 2009 figure as a benchmark from which to assess the 
company’s fuel consumption in future years.

A) STREAMLINING FLIGHT OPERATION ANd  
CONTROLLING FUEL CONSUMPTION
At Cargolux, we are convinced that our flight operations rank 
among the most fuel efficient in the air freight sector. This 
is due to the fact that Cargolux’s fleet is solely composed of 
one of the most fuel-efficient large cargo aircraft currently 
available, and that constant attention is paid to planning 
our flights in such a way that our fuel consumption remains 
as low as possible. A series of fuel conservation measures 
were introduced in the past years, which have proved ef-
fective in reducing our fuel burn even further. 

These measures are being maintained where possible and 
a monitoring system is being established to ensure that 
the energy efficiency levels remain high. As 2008 was the 
first full year where many of these measures were imple-
mented, we were able to describe these measures in detail 
in our previous year’s Corporate Social Responsibility Re-
port. The following paragraphs show the results obtained 
by monitoring progress in their implementation in 2009.

1) Cost Index: The most effective measure remains opera-
ting under a cost index-based flight schedule, as opposed 
to the traditional fixed-speed schedule that was operated 
until 2007. under the cost-index schedule, the most impor-
tant variables that constitute the overall cost of a flight are 
evaluated in order to determine the most efficient speed of 
operation. For example, if an aircraft is not bound by critical 
landing slots or crew duty times, it may fly at a speed lower 
than the standard Mach 0.85 speed and thereby achieve a 
lower overall fuel burn for the flight. 

A new series of calculations undertaken in early 2010 has 
shown that cost index-based flight planning yields conti-
nued positive results in terms of fuel economy. An extra-
polation of one week of flight planning to a whole year of 
operation shows that an estimated 9,000 tonnes of fuel 
were saved during 2009, representing a saving of 28,350 
tonnes of CO

2. 

2) Network optimization: In 2009, new stopover destina-
tions were opened for technical stops on certain routes. 
These are located nearly halfway between the points of 
departure and arrival, which makes it possible to achieve 
a better balance between cargo and fuel loads and carry 
more freight relative to the amount of fuel burnt. 

Further optimizations of the network included the opening 
of new trans-Siberian routes during 2009, allowing more 
cost-effective and fuel-efficient operations to certain 
destinations in the Far East. However, a further extension 
of trans-Siberian routes is hampered by exceedingly high 
overflying costs over Russia.

3) Network flexibility: The flexibility of Cargolux’s opera-
tions greatly helped the company to overcome the difficult 
economic climate that prevailed in 2009. A close coope-
ration between all members of staff from the commercial, 
operations and maintenance divisions of the company, 
made it possible to consolidate and re-route flights where 
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necessary, thereby maintaining relatively high load fac-
tors and increasing as far as possible the fuel efficiency of 
our operations. 

The load factor of an aircraft (i.e. the amount of freight 
loaded compared to the capacity of the aircraft) is a de-
termining factor in the fuel efficiency of a flight and Cargo-
lux seeks, where possible, to keep its load factor as high 
as possible. As a result of this flexibility, the average load  
factor decreased by only 1.6 percentage points in 2009 
compared to 2008, in spite of the difficult economic situation 
that prevailed through most of the year.  

4) Center of gravity: Determining the optimal load distri-
bution of a cargo aircraft is a delicate art, especially given 
the large size and disparate weights and volumes of the 
various shipments that will be brought together into the 
cargo decks of a 747-400 freighter aircraft. The objective 
is to achieve an optimal balance between front and rear, as 
well as left and right side, in order to ensure that the aero-
dynamic properties of the aircraft will not be impaired and 
that it will be able to take-off, fly and land safely. 

A fine-tuning of the load balance allows to obtain an ideal 
center of gravity profile offering both the safest flying 
conditions and the lowest possible fuel burn for that par-
ticular set of pallets. Since 2008, a tool was integrated 
into the system used by load controllers, allowing them to 
check that their aircraft load is as close as possible to that 
optimum. This tool is now used as a standard procedure. 

Spot checks performed over the year 2009 show that more 
than half of Cargolux flights continue to be loaded with a 
center of gravity situated within 0.5% of the optimum. This 
shows that the initial efforts undertaken in 2008 to optimize 
aircraft performance by fine-tuning the center of gravity of 
the aircraft are being maintained.

 5) APU usage: In 2007 a network-wide campaign was laun-
ched aimed at reducing, where possible, the use of the air-
craft’s auxiliary power unit for energy generation when the 
aircraft is on the ground. This campaign proved successful 
and a reduction of 8.8% in the utilization of the APu per air-
craft cycle was achieved in 2008 compared to 2007. 

In 2009, the utilization of the APu increased again, by 
6.25%, to reach 1h42 per aircraft cycle. This increase is 
due to a variety of factors, including a lack of reliability of 
ground power supply at certain airports and the need to 
ensure stable temperatures in the aircraft when perishable 
goods or live animals are transported. 

Nevertheless, Cargolux continues to monitor utilization of 
the auxiliary power unit and to gradually increase reliance 
on ground power where possible.

6) deep core engine washing has, since 2008, been fully 
integrated into Cargolux’s maintenance program. In 2009, 
both General Electric and Rolls Royce engines were washed 
on a regular basis at a 300-cycle interval. An improvement 
in Specific Fuel Consumption is particularly noticeable 
on GE engines, where the reduction in fuel burn reached 
0.25%. This represents a substantial improvement, with an 
estimated fuel saving in excess of 430 tonnes over the en-
tire year, or 1,350 tonnes of CO

2. 

7) Compressed air: With the opening of Cargolux’s new 
twin-bay maintenance hangar in Luxembourg, modern 
technologies could be applied in our maintenance acti-
vities, allowing additional fuel savings. For example, the 
availability of compressed air in the new hangar removed 
the need to use the APu for routine checks such as engine 
tests or the operation of flaps and other moveable parts of 
the aircraft. As a result, Cargolux estimates that over 30 
tonnes of fuel will be saved annually. 

ONGOING PROGRAMS
Cargolux is also engaged in longer-term projects, many of 
which, once implemented, will yield substantial savings in 
fuel consumption. The most important are the following:

IRIdIUM SATELLITE COMMUNICATION

In 2009, Cargolux was able to reach significant milestones 
in the implementation of Iridium on-board satellite commu-
nication technology, which opened the possibility of star-
ting operations in the first half of 2010.

Since 2007 Cargolux has spearheaded the implementation 
of Iridium-based satellite communication into civil aviation. 
Iridium offers a cheaper and more powerful alternative to 
the existing Inmarsat system, mainly due to the fact that  
lighter equipment is required, both on board the aircraft and 
on the ground, to operate the system, and because Iridium 
offers worldwide coverage, including over the poles. 
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The implementation of iridium satellite technology on Car-
golux’s fleet offers significant fuel saving prospects as 
the company’s flights will be able to follow air routes that 
require Future Air Navigation System (FANS) data-based 
communication. These are often more direct routes, but 
located over remote areas such as deserts or high seas, 
where no ground-based VHF radio coverage is available. 
On these routes, all communication is undertaken through 
data transfers via the aircraft’s on-board flight manage-
ment computer. 

In September 2009, Luxembourg’s Civil Aviation Authority 
certified Cargolux for the operation of FANS routes and, on 
1 November 2009, a first test flight was successfully per-
formed between Auckland and Los Angeles, crossing the 
Pacific Ocean. This test flight marked the first time where 
a FANS route was flown using iridium satellite communi-
cations, and was performed with the collaboration of Air  
Traffic Control centers covering this flight zone. 

Cargolux estimates indicate that, depending on dominant 
winds, the company may save up to 1,450 tonnes of fuel 
per year on the Luxembourg-Hong kong and Luxembourg-
Shanghai routes alone thanks to this technology.  

FLEET RENEwAL 

Cargolux’s ambitious fleet renewal program was delayed at 
production stage. We expect the first of 13 firmly ordered 
Boeing 747-8F aircraft to be delivered by the end of 2010. 

This new-generation 747 aircraft will offer the single most 
important improvement in fuel efficiency for our operations. 
Thanks to its new engines and new aerodynamic design, 
this aircraft is expected to achieve 17% fuel savings per 

tonne-km compared to our current aircraft, the 747-400F. 
Newly developed noise-reduction technology also makes 
the 747-8F remarkably quieter, with a 30% smaller take-off 
noise footprint at 85dB, compared to its predecessor. 

The 747-8F will thereby allow Cargolux to offer one of the 
most environment-conscious air cargo services worldwide. 
Its flights will generate substantially lower CO

2 emissions, 
as well as markedly lower noise disturbances to the com-
munities of the airports where we operate.

Boeing completed its first 747-8F at the end of 2009 and 
started its nine-month test flight program on 8 February 
2010. Cargolux is scheduled to receive two new aircraft in 
December 2010 and two aircraft in 2011. The new 747-8F 
will gradually replace our current fleet of 747-400F. 

ALTERNATIvE FUELS

In 2008, Cargolux became one of the founding members of 
a cross-industry initiative that aims at promoting research 
and bringing onto the market a bio-derived, environmen-
tally sustainable type of jet aviation fuel. The Sustainable 
Aviation Fuel user’s Group (SAFuG) brings together airlines 
and other stakeholders that share a common interest in  
developing a long-term, renewable source of aviation fuel 
that does not compete with agricultural food production, 
does not pose a threat to fragile ecosystems and has a po-
sitive socio-economic impact. 

Many scientific and organizational challenges remain to be 
overcome before sustainable aviation bio-fuel becomes 
available in large quantities and at an acceptable price-
range. However, remarkable progress has already been 
achieved by specialist industrial partners participating in 

this initiative. The technology for producing plant-based jet 
fuel which equals or exceeds the chemical requirements 
of fossil-based fuel is now ready. Several feed stocks 
have been identified for the production of the fuel: plants 
growing in saline environments, in semi-arid areas, fallow-
crops and algae-varieties. Research is now ongoing aimed 
at developing methods for large-scale production that are 
environmentally sustainable and economically viable. 

Two important milestones were reached in 2009. The first 
was the adoption by the standards development organiza-
tion ASTM International of a new specification that will allow 
the use of synthetic fuels in commercial aviation. This new 
standard opens the possibility of utilizing  fuel produced 
using sustainable feedstocks. It describes the fuel proper-
ties and criteria necessary to control the manufacture and 
quality of these fuels. In doing so, it paves the way towards 
certification of sustainable bio-fuel in commercial aviation 
in coming years.  

Secondly, SAFuG joined the Lausanne-based Roundtable 
on Sustainable Biofuels (RSB), which is developing sustai-
nability standards and a certification process for aviation 
bio-fuels. Certification by the RSB will give assurance that 
the aviation bio-fuel that will be used is recognized as sus-
tainable at an international level. 

Cargolux 
and the 

environMent



E-FREIGHT

Cargolux is one of the ten founding airlines participating 
in the ‘IATA e-freight’ initiative. This project aims at simpli-
fying the air cargo business and shortening transit times 
by eliminating the paperwork that currently needs to travel 
with the freight.  This is an industry-wide project of which 
a positive side-effect would be to reduce substantially the 
amount of paper used in this sector (estimated at 8,000 
tonnes annually). It involves airlines, freight forwarders, 
customs authorities, ground handlers and shippers. 

Cargolux took the decision to coordinate collaboration with 
customs authorities and freight forwarders in Luxembourg, 
in order to promote the utilization of e-freight on its flights, 
and Luxembourg became one of the first countries who 
obtained e-freight certification, in 2008. This was achie-
ved by performing a live air cargo shipment (in other words 
transporting a shipment where all paperwork is repla-
ced by electronic messaging) between Luxembourg and  
Singapore.  

In September 2009, Cargolux followed up this trial with 
another live shipment between Luxembourg and Taiwan. 
These successes demonstrated that, when all participants 
in the supply chain work together, they can realize paper-
less movement of goods around the world. 

In a parallel effort, Cargolux is developing a proof of concept 
web-portal access system designed for smaller forwarders 
that may not own the IT infrastructure required for e-freight. 
This system will provide them with the ability to communi-
cate the required Air Waybill data and thereby participate in 
e-freight when transporting their goods with Cargolux.  

An important milestone to facilitate e-freight was achieved 
at the end of 2009, with the ratification of an agreement 

between airlines (represented by IATA) and freight forwar-
ders (represented by FIATA) towards the creation of an in-
dustry-wide format for electronic air waybills (e-AWB), to 
replace the paper air waybills.

The implementation of e-freight is likely to accelerate in 
2010, as the European union requires customs pre-notifi-
cation of all shipments to be effective by end 2010 in all 
Eu countries. This will mean that the Eu will be aligned with 
other customs authorities that already have this require-
ment, such as in the u.S. and Canada. 

b) NON-FLIGHT ACTIvITIES:

Road Feeder Services: Cargolux organizes road feeder 
services to and from many airports in its network, in or-
der to complement its flights and facilitate the transfer of 
goods from origin to their final destination. Over 90% of all  
trucking organized by Cargolux takes place in Europe, 
where shipments are transported between its hub in 
Luxembourg and the destination airports of the shipments 
throughout the continent (and vice-versa). All road feeder 
activities performed worldwide for Cargolux represent less 
than 1% of the company’s overall CO

2 emissions.

In January 2009, the trucking companies that provide the 
bulk of road feeder services on behalf of Cargolux in Europe 
agreed on a plan to gradually renew their trucking fleet 
by phasing out older, more polluting trucks and replacing 
them with new models that comply with the most recent 
emissions norms laid out by the European union.

In spite of the economic difficulties that prevailed in 2009, 
these trucking companies did manage to reduce the pro-
portion of older trucks: out of 304 vehicles that were regu-
larly used to transport cargo for Cargolux in 2009, 70% were 
classified as ‘Euro IV’ or ‘Euro V’ (compared to 55% in 2008), 

and more polluting Euro II trucks were completely phased 
out. This result was achieved both by retiring older trucks 
and introducing new vehicles. The trucking companies  
thereby came close to achieving their objective of an 80% 
‘Euro IV/V’ fleet. 

However, further fleet renewal activities are likely to  
depend largely on a confirmed economic recovery in 2010 
and beyond. 
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II. CONTROLLING NOISE EMISSIONS 

Noise emissions are the second most important area of 
environmental concern to Cargolux and all possible efforts 
are being made to mitigate the amount of noise produced 
by its aircraft. 

These efforts are of particular importance at the company’s 
hub in Luxembourg, as this is where the highest number of 
aircraft movements take place. In 2009, close to 10 Cargo-
lux aircraft took off and landed at Luxembourg on average 
every day, Cargolux flights representing over 17% of all jet 
aircraft movements. Luxembourg airport is also located in 
the vicinity of Luxembourg City and several smaller villa-
ges, and Cargolux seeks to  ensure that its operations result 
in the least possible disturbances to these communities. 

Cargolux’s fleet is currently exclusively composed of one 
of the quietest large freighter aircraft available, the Boeing 
747-400F. From December 2010 onwards, Cargolux looks 
forward to being able to operate even more quietly, with 
the arrival of the first Boeing 747-8F. The new engines and 
wing design of this aircraft will lead to a 30% reduction of its 
take-off noise footprint at 85 dB, compared to the current 
aircraft. The 747-8F’s noise level will therefore be compa-
rable to that of many smaller twin-engine aircraft. 

Between 2005 and 2008, Cargolux, as well as Boeing, ac-
tively participated in a study on aviation noise in Luxem-
bourg. This study was initiated by Cargolux and carried out 
by the Henri Tudor Research Institute. It was funded mainly 
by the Luxembourg government. 

By building a mathematical model specific for Luxem-
bourg’s operating conditions and Boeing 747 aircraft, the 
objective of the study was to simulate aircraft noise pat-
terns and to be able to optimize a number of flight relevant 
parameters, such as take-off and approach procedures, 
in order to ultimately reduce the noise impact of Cargo-
lux flight operations at Luxembourg airport. It also sought 
to determine at what time of the day aircraft movements 
caused the highest amount of nuisance to the largest num-
ber of people and to suggest new approach, take-off and 
scheduling procedures that would minimize the amount of 
community noise.

This study proved very valuable in the establishment of the 
government’s noise action plan for Luxembourg Airport, 
which is being developed. 

A second phase of the study on noise is currently in prepa-
ration, which aims at calculating optimal trajectory vectors 
for aircraft taking off and landing at Luxembourg airport, 
and developing a new tool that will be able to calculate 
noise thresholds perceived by the population, and thereby  
determine optimal flight paths, taking into account the  
level of background noise that the population is exposed to. 
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III. wASTE MANAGEMENT: 

In 2009, Cargolux was able to build on the efforts made in 
2008 and consolidate its waste management program at 
all its sites in Luxembourg. This includes the company head-
quarters building, the new maintenance hangar, which be-
came operational in May 2009 and also houses the offices 
of all Maintenance and Engineering personnel, as well as 
additional rented offices, including Cargolux offices loca-
ted at the Luxair Cargo Center in Luxembourg. 

Cargolux’s Maintenance and Engineering Division benefi-
ted in particular from the fact that the waste management 
program had been introduced in 2008, prior to the move 
into the new maintenance facility. The experience gained 
before the move allowed maintenance staff to design a 
more practical layout of the various new shops and work 
zones, and to achieve more efficient work flows. By better 
separating the waste produced at the facility, it became 
possible to reduce the overall amount of waste classified 
as hazardous. The layout of the new facility also allowed the 
installation of waste compactors, substantially reducing of 
the number of road trips required to dispose of the waste. 

Thanks to a fruitful collaboration with its partners in Luxem-
bourg, Cargolux could expand its waste management pro-
gram to offices located in rented facilities. As a result, all 
Cargolux offices in Luxembourg were covered by a waste 
sorting and recycling system by the end of 2009.  

In recognition to the continued efforts made by Cargolux, 
the Luxembourg Ministry of the Environment renewed the 
company’s ‘Superdreckskëscht fir Betriber’ (SDk) label 
in June 2009 for its headquarters. A separate label was 
awarded specifically for the maintenance hangar in August 
2009, due to the specific nature of waste resulting from 
aircraft maintenance. The SDk label is awarded in Luxem-
bourg to companies that demonstrate exemplary waste 

management practices, including waste avoidance measu-
res, safe and environmentally-friendly waste storage, se-
lective collection and a transparent waste recycling and 
disposal system. 

This certificate is subject to annual renewal following audits 
that verify the company’s adherence to these principles. 
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1  Hazardous waste includes solvents, paints, adhesives, oily sludges, chemicals, waste containing heavy metals, batteries, among others.
2  Recyclable waste includes metals, plastics, wood, glass, paper (includes waste generated by the clearing of the old hangar and waste 

from the new canteen).
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In the course of 2009, Cargolux’s handling agent in Luxem-
bourg, Luxair Cargo, expanded its own waste management 
program. This is of particular importance as a large per-
centage of all the freight transported by Cargolux transits 
through Luxembourg and is handled at the Luxair Cargo 
Center. Also, over 70% of all the freight handled by Luxair is 
transported by Cargolux. 

Much of the waste handled by Luxair originates therefore 
from Cargolux’s aircraft pallets, in the form of wrapping 
material, wood used for spreading the weight of dense pie-
ces of cargo over wider surfaces and spent pallet nets and 
straps. 

Luxair Cargo now segregates three different categories of 
plastic used as pallet packing material , which can thereby 
be recycled more efficiently. These are transformed into 
granules and sold to the plastics industry. Since Decem-
ber 2009, the manure and spent sawdust collected after 
cleaning out the stalls from the 900 horses that transit 
through Luxembourg airport every year is  sent to a special 
recycling facility and used to facilitate the regeneration of 
contaminated soil. used pallet straps and nets are also se-
parately collected by Luxair, for recycling. 

Following these developments, Luxair Cargo was also 
awarded Luxembourg’s “Superdreckskëscht” waste mana-
gement certificate in 2009. This demonstrates that sound 
environmental practices are increasingly being implemen-
ted by a community of stakeholders at Luxembourg airport, 
rather than in isolation. Both Cargolux and Luxair will main-
tain and further strengthen their collaboration in this field 
in the future and encourage additional stakeholders to take 
part in these efforts. 

vI. POLICY ANd CONTRACTUAL FRAMEwORk

ISO 14001 certification: An important milestone was  
reached in March 2009, when Cargolux was awarded the 
ISO 14001 certification for its flight operations division 
and its Type Rating Training Organization. This international 
recognition demonstrates that Cargolux has adopted an 
environmental policy and implemented an Envi ronmental 
Management System, through which the airline moni-
tors and seeks to continuously reduce its impact on the  
environment, notably in terms of atmospheric emissions. 
The ISO-appointed auditors also certified that Cargolux 
complies with all applicable environmental legislation 
and is monitoring developments in this field. In addition, 
an appropriate e-training module has been put in place to  
inform Cargolux’s Luxembourg-based staff on environment- 
related issues.  

Cargolux decided to begin its environmental certification 
process with its flight operations, in other words its core  
activity. Compared with the other activities of the company, 
flight operations is the field that has the greatest impact on 
the environment, and where the greatest benefits are to be 
gained. Cargolux plans to extend its ISO 14001 certification 
to the other divisions of the company in coming years. 

Involving handling agents: At Cargolux, we feel that it is 
important to ensure that the principles developed in the 
field of environmental conservation and social responsi-
bility are also respected by our commercial partners. We 
have made it a requirement that our main group of service 
providers, the ground handling agents that work for us at 
airports throughout the world, adopt a corporate social res-
ponsibility policy and join the uN Global Compact. A new 
section has been included to this effect in the standard 
Service Level Agreement (SLA) that is signed between the 
handling agents and Cargolux. This is also the contract that 
is used when the service level agreement with existing 
handling agents is renewed.
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Cargolux’s new  
MaintenanCe hangar: 
CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITy IN PRACTICE 

On 18 May 2009, Cargolux’s Maintenance and Engineering division moved into its newly-built facility at 
Luxembourg airport. This state-of-the-art hangar was designed as an efficient maintenance tool, offering best 
possible ergonomics when working on Cargolux’s and customers’ aircraft. By integrating new technologies the 
facility also benefits from a limited environmental footprint.
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OPTIMIZEd wORk ENvIRONMENT

Particular attention was paid to ensure that Cargolux  
mechanics would not be required to perform dangerous or 
unduly demanding physical movements in the course of 
their activities and that they would enjoy a pleasant work 
environment. 

The new facility is large enough to accommodate two  
wide-body aircraft such as Cargolux’s 747 freighters, which 
allows mechanics to work in a heated and dry environment 
throughout the year. 

Drawing on the close to 40 year-long experience in aircraft 
maintenance gained at Cargolux’s previous facility, the 
layout of the hangar floor and maintenance shops was  
optimized to ensure the shortest possible material flows 
and, where possible, walking distances between the shops, 
the aircraft and administrative support offices. 

A crane system was also installed spanning the entire han-
gar area, with connecting bridges thanks to which heavy 
loads such as flaps, engines and flight controls can be 
easily removed from the aircraft and transported safely 
between any two points of the hangar. 

The hangar floor is equipped with pits located at strategic 
positions providing power, water, compressed air and IT 
connections to all points of the aircraft. A nose docking 
system was installed, providing effortless access to the 
main deck and various parts at the front of the aircraft  
where maintenance is frequently required. 

The hangar itself was built according to a unique design 
that allows natural light to penetrate all parts of the  
building. This brings about a less tiring luminosity for the 
mechanics and reduces the reliance on artificial lighting. 
The design incorporates a shed system for the main hangar 
as well as patios allowing natural light to reach most main-
tenance shops in the building. 

Particular attention was also paid to the comfort of main-
tenance employees, for instance through the installation 
of new equipment in a spacious environment, including, 
where possible, the introduction of more environmentally-
friendly processes. Vehicles used inside the building are 
now all electrically powered, in order to avoid the dissemi-
nation of diesel fumes. A high-quality staff restaurant was 
also built adjacent to the hangar. 

ENvIRONMENTAL EXCELLENCE

Cargolux was subjected to stringent regulations for all as-
pects of the hangar, and sought to respect all conditions 
imposed by authorities and to introduce systems and prac-
tices going beyond these requirements.  

For example, the facility is equipped with a co-generation 
plant for the production of electricity, hot and cold water, 
the latter two being a by-product of the electricity produc-
tion. The hot water feeds the heating system and hot water 
supply of the building. 

During the development phase of the facility, a study de-
termined that this heating system would be the most cost- 
effective and most energy efficient. Compared to a  
standard heating system with separate water heating, the 
co-generation system allows a reduction in CO

2 emissions 
of 34%. 

As far as the sorting and collection of waste was concer-
ned, the Maintenance and Engineering division benefited 
from the fact that Cargolux’s waste management program 
was introduced prior to moving into the new facility. This 
has allowed mechanics and technicians to provide their 
input and to design the most efficient layout for the sorting 
and collection of the various categories of waste. 

The installation of compressed air generators also makes it 
possible to save aviation fuel and reduce overall CO2 emis-
sions generated by the maintenance activities. Thanks to 
a high-volume three-bar system, the aircraft engines can 
be started and wing surfaces such as flaps can be moved 
without operation of the aircraft’s auxiliary power unit. 

Cargolux is currently monitoring the water and energy 
consumption of the new facility, as well as the amount 
of waste produced, with a view to controlling these even  
further in the future. 
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I. OUR EMPLOYEES

Although 2009 proved to be one of the most difficult years 
in Cargolux’s history, the company managed to navigate 
through the difficult economical climate without compulsory 
redundancies. As the economic crisis became apparent, a 
clear priority was set by Cargolux’s management that all 
efforts should be made to preserve jobs through the crisis. 
While economic measures were taken to safeguard the sur-
vival of the company, these were all voluntary measures 
which sought to respect this underlying objective. During 
the entire year, dialogue was maintained with the staff  
representatives. Through this course of action, Cargolux 
remained true to its family-company spirit and reputation 
for caring for its staff. 

A) TURNOvER
As the market shrunk in 2009, Cargolux needed to scale 
down its activity. Alongside a reduction of the fleet, it was 
also necessary to reduce the overall workforce in order to 
have a cost-base on which the company would be able to 
survive.

Among the measures taken, Cargolux launched a voluntary 
part-time work scheme for its employees. This scheme 
was received positively by Cargolux’s employees, some of 
whom welcomed this as an opportunity to be more availa-
ble for their family, or to pursue personal interests. At the 
end of 2009, 9% of Luxembourg-based employees were 
working part-time. 

This measure, along with the non-renewal of temporary 
work contracts and a voluntary early-retirement scheme, 
allowed a substantial reduction of the company’s man-
power through the year, which significantly helped to main-
tain the economic stability of the company. 

STAFF TURNOvER bY CATEGORY, (LuxEMBOuRG)

  2009 2008

MEN  4.4% 4.3%
WOMEN 7.0% 4.6%

BELOW 30 yRS 9,4% 6.1%

30 - 50 yRS 1.5% 2.4%
>50 yRS 20,8% 13.2%

STAFF COVERED By COLLECTIVE
WORk AGREEMENT 87.8% 87.5%
STAFF WITH PERMANENT CONTRACT 99.3% 96.4%

NUMbER OF EMPLOYEES 

WORLDWIDE 1,482 1,530
HEADquARTERS 1,110 1,155

b) TRAINING
At Cargolux, training all staff categories is considered an 
essential means of ensuring that the airline not only ope-
rates safely and efficiently, but also remains continuously 
competitive in the global market. However, in order to cope 
with the economic crisis during 2009, it became necessary 
to temporarily scale down the training effort.  As a result, 
non-compulsory training of office personnel was reduced 
by approximately 50% compared to 2008. 

Nevertheless, all training programs for flight crews and 
mechanics, which are legal requirements, were strictly 
maintained. These are an essential means of ensuring ope-
rational flight safety, which is a field where no compromise 
can be made. 

In particular, Cargolux maintained the cargo training pro-
gram which is offered to employees of all General Handling 
Agents working at airports where the airline operates. 

In 2009, 392 non-Cargolux persons participated in the 
Cargo courses (covering dangerous goods, live animals 
and cargo loading) and in the Security Awareness course, 
representing 30% of total attendance in those programs. 
This training program is very important for Cargolux, as it 
ensures that the persons who are in contact with the airli-
ne’s aircraft follow all company procedures while handling 
cargo on its behalf. 

It is also important for the employees of our GHAs working 
at airports around the globe, in particular in developing 
economies, as they thereby gain skills that will constitute 
a personal advantage throughout their careers, including 
when working for other airlines. See also the discussion 
under “participation in education and research” below. 
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C)  OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH ANd SAFETY OF EMPLOYEES 
Cargolux gives the highest level of importance to the health 
and safety of all its employees. Particular importance is 
paid to our maintenance staff, who perform demanding 
physical work and may need to operate machinery and use 
hazardous substances; to our ground operations staff, who 
work in close proximity to our aircraft and to the freight we 
transport, sometimes facing adverse weather conditions; 
and to our flight crews, who operate our aircraft around 
the clock and face health risks specific to pilots, including  
fatigue due to frequent time zone changes. 

While the air transport sector is subject to stringent re-
gulations in this field, all efforts are made to ensure that 
potential risks to the health and safety of these groups of 
employees, as well as to the health and safty of office staff, 
are reduced to a minimum. Cargolux makes efforts to go 
beyond the strict application of the law. 

The Health and Safety program includes training, regular 
medical checks, reviews of dangerous substances used 
in maintenance activities, checks of temperature and hu-
midity at Cargolux officices and the establishment of strict 
rules and procedures specifically designed to prevent acci-
dents or undue exposure to health risks. The corresponding 
prevention and training programs launched in previous 
years were continued in 2009. 

In 2009, an important milestone was reached with the  
publication of Cargolux’s Occupational Health and Safety 
Management System (OHSMS) which, together with the 
Cargolux Ground Emergency Manual, forms a comprehen-
sive set of procedures covering all matters relevant to the 
health and safety of all employees that had previously 
been approved by senior management. 

These documents, together with the extensive health and 
safety-related information electronically available to all 
members of staff, form a transparent and open framework 
that all members of staff and management may refer to in 
their day-to-day activities. This helps build a safety culture 
in the company and helps keep the number of accidents as 
low as possible.

The accident frequency figures recorded in 2009 show that 
Cargolux seeks to offer a safe working environment. Cargo-
lux figures remain lower than the average rate throughout 
Luxembourg and substantially lower than the accident 
frequency recorded among the more than 50 companies 
belonging to Luxembourg’s aviation sector. While the total 
number of external accidents was lower in 2009 compa-
red to 2008, more minor internal accidents were recorded 
during the year, owing mainly to the fact that maintenance 
staff needed to adapt to their new working environment.

The frequency rating published by Luxembourg Accident 
Insurance Association shows the percentage of hours 
lost compared to the total available work hours. This rating  
takes into account all accidents where one working hour or 
more were lost and where external medical treatment was 
provided to the employee. 

Cargolux’s accident statistics refer to all accidents occur-
ring to Luxembourg-based staff (including all pilots and 
mechanics). However accidents occurring outside Luxem-
bourg are also monitored and preventive actions are dis-
cussed and agreed with the responsible station manager.

NUMbER OF ACCIdENTS

  2006 2007 2008 2009

INTERNAL ACCIDENTS 36 41 32 37
ExTERNAL ACCIDENTS 27 11 19 11
TOTAL ACCIdENTS 63 52 51 48

ACCIdENT FREqUENCY

COMPARED TO LuxEMBOuRG AVERAGE AND COMPARED 
TO LuxEMBOuRG AVIATION SECTOR (57 COMPANIES)

  2006 2007 2008 2009

CARGOLUX 7.03 5.7 5.41 5.07
LuxEMBOuRG 7.69 7.01 6.81 N/A
AVIATION SECTOR 9.7 8.45 8.88 N/A

Number of accidents per 100 full-time employee units (according 
to the Luxembourg Accident Insurance Association methodology).
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II. OUR RELATIONSHIP wITH THE COMMUNITY:

A) INTEGRATION INTO LUXEMbOURG SOCIETY

ECONOMIC dEvELOPMENT

In 2009, Cargolux became a member of Luxembourg’s 
Cluster for Logistics. This platform was launched at the end 
of 2008, in order to bring together all actors in the field of 
logistics in Luxembourg, including transport and logistics 
companies, shippers, government bodies and higher edu-
cation institutions. Its objective is to strengthen the com-
petitiveness of the sector by fostering collaboration, infor-
mation exchange, synergies between its members as well 
as supporting research and innovation activities.   

Cargolux also acted as a main sponsor of Luxembourg’s 
pavillion at the Shanghai Expo 2010 event. Luxembourg’s 
cargo airline will thereby contribute to the promotion of 
the Grand-Duchy of Luxembourg at the event, and help to 
promote Luxembourg as a logistics gateway to and from  
Europe. Cargolux’s participation also helps to reassert 
Luxembourg’s position as a center for innovation and 
openness, both towards the global economy and towards 
people and cultures worldwide. 

PARTICIPATION IN EdUCATION ANd RESEARCH

Mechanic’s training: Since 1979, students following a 
technical school education in Luxembourg have the possi-
bility of taking an aircraft mechanic’s diploma. This course 
was launched at the initiative of Cargolux and Luxair, in or-
der to help develop a long-term specialist workforce based 
in Luxembourg, and is held at a technical high school in 
Luxembourg (the Lycée Technique Privé Emile Metz). From 
2001 onwards, this program was adapted in accordance 
with new European-wide EASA regulations, as a result of 

which students who fulfill the entry requirements and 
successfully pass the examination  obtain an Aircraft  
Mechanic License conforming to the European Aviation  
Safety Agency regulations, Part 66, which is recognized in 
all member states of the European union.

This is a demanding curriculum due to the technical 
knowledge level required of students wishing to participate 
and to the fact that all teaching material is in English, which 
is not a mother tongue in Luxembourg. However, this is also 
an important contribution to Luxembourg’s education sys-
tem, as it broadens the scope of available study courses 
in the country and contributes to the educational diversity 
among the country’s population.

In 2009, the mechanic’s course offer was modified in or-
der to develop a more flexible aircraft maintenance work-
force in Luxembourg. This program change also led to an  
increase in the number of places available to student candi-
dates. In addition to the two-year program that was taught 
since 2001 (termed “B” license according to EASA Part 66), 
a lighter one-year curriculum is now offered that leads to an 
aircraft technician’s license (termed “A” according to EASA 
Part 66). This shorter curriculum is also less demanding, 
and provides the opportunity to more students to access 
the aircraft mechanic’s career. 

Whereas in 2008, only eight students were admitted to 
the course, in 2009, 12 new students could be admitted, 
of whom 8 took part in the new one-year course. Students 
who successfully complete the mechanic’s training are 
normally offered an employment contract to work either for 
Cargolux or for Luxembourg’s passenger airline Luxair. 

Higher education and research: In June 2009, Cargolux 
accepted to participate in a new research project initia-
ted by the university of zaragoza, in partnership with 

Luxembourg’s Henri Tudor Research Institute, named 
OptiAirTrans. This three-year project, which is part of the 
European union’s seventh Research Framework Program, 
aims at identifying means of simplifying and improving the 
efficiency of air cargo flows and thereby increasing the 
competitiveness of the air cargo sector. 

The project will seek to develop a simulation based on 
actual data provided by Cargolux and two other major air 
carriers, as well as freight forwarders, handling agents and 
several airports, including Luxembourg airport.  

Cargolux also regularly contributes to the Aviation Business 
study course offered by the university of Applied Sciences 
of the Saarland, close to Luxembourg, where Cargolux staff 
members teach classes in various subjects in the capacity 
of visiting tutors. Students who successfully complete 
their curiculum obtain a bachelors’ degree in airline mana-
gement and an airline transport pilots’ license. 

Cargolux thereby supports the higher education courses 
in the vicinity of Luxembourg. The fact that this course is 
available close to Cargolux’s headquarters helps in the  
development of a locally based population of pilots and 
qualified experts in aviation management. 
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b) SUPPORTING NON-GOvERNMENTAL ORGANISATIONS

FLYING FOR HELP

Where possible, Cargolux helps by doing what it knows 
best: transporting goods, on behalf of non-governmental 
organizations. Intercontinental transport often consti-
tutes a large portion of the costs of an aid project. Where 
capacity on its flights allows and if the goods are destined 
within reach of one of its destinations worldwide, Cargolux 
transports the goods free-of-charge to their destination. 
This help in kind often tips the balance towards the success-
ful completion of an aid project. 

Over the course of 2009, Cargolux’s support reached many 
projects and organisations. As many as 26 different ship-
ments were made to various destinations, mainly in Africa, 
in support of charity projects. Goods transported in 2009 
were destined mainly to kenya, Chad, Haiti, South Africa 
and Tanzania. 

Where possible, when charity goods are being transported, 
Cargolux supervises the transport to the end-destination, 
with the cooperation of freight forwarders and Cargolux 
staff on location, our General Sales Agents and of customs 
authorities. This helps to ensure that the goods actually 
reach their beneficiaries. 

In 2009, Cargolux continued its support of one of Luxem-
bourg’s largest charity events, the annual International 
Bazaar. This event brings together volunteer representa-
tives from over 50 nations worldwide, who sell goods and 
culinary specialties from their countries. The proceeds of 
this charible event are distributed to charity projects throu-
ghout the world.  

For many years Cargolux has helped this initiative by trans-
porting the goods sold at the event free-of-charge to Luxem-
bourg. The successful implementation of this help is often 
achieved thanks to the good will and extra effort made by 
Cargolux personnel stationed at the various airports on our 
network. In 2009, the efforts of our staff at Houston, uSA, 
were rewarded as the International Bazaar Charity Commit-
tee decided to award a donation to the Galveston County 
Recovery Fund, which provides relief to hurricane victims 
in the area, close to the city of Houston. This non-govern-
mental organization had been originally recommended by 
Cargolux’s staff.

SUPPORTING LUXEMbOURG’S SPORTS ANd ARTS SECTORS

Since its earliest days, Cargolux has supported both cultu-
ral and sports activities in Luxembourg. Whether Luxem-
bourg sportsmen or musicians performing abroad, or 
Luxembourg artists exhibiting at museums overseas. This 
support also extends to cultural and sports activities in 
Luxembourg. 

During the course of the year, Cargolux has transported 
free-of-charge the works of art of various Luxembourg ar-
tists for exhibitions in New york and Tokyo. 

In 2009, Cargolux has pursued its partnership with Luxem-
bourg’s Modern Art Museum, which was first initiated in 
2004. Cargolux transports works of art on behalf of MuDAM 
that are on loan from museums and collectors worldwide, 
and that become part of a themed temporary exhibition at 
the museum. In 2009, Cargolux transported works of art 
destined for three different exhibitions of the museum. 
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REPORT STRUCTURE, CRITERIA ANd SELECTION OF ISSUES

This is Cargolux’s second corporate social responsibility 
report. Following on the report published in the previous 
year, its elaboration was based on a continued analysis of 
the Company’s main impacts and responsibilities, both as 
regards the environment and society and on the concerns 
raised by key groups of stakeholders regarding these  
topics. Stakeholder groups were identified on the basis of 
the nature and geographical location of our activities. An 
ongoing dialogue takes place with these groups, through 
public meetings, direct representation or via the media. 
Regular meetings also take place between the Cargolux top 
management and its employees, which include open ques-
tions and answer sessions.

These groups include our shareholders, employees, custo-
mers, investors and suppliers. They also include the com-
munities potentially affected by our activities, primarily 
living around the airport of Luxembourg (our main opera-
tional hub), as well as government and local authorities,  
national representations, industrial representations and 
non governmental organizations and auditing bodies.

The 2009 report reflects the devastating effects of the 
global economic crisis that pushed Cargolux and the global 
air cargo sector to its limits. Despite the difficulties and 
challenges the company had to overcome, Cargolux took 
care to uphold its commitment to environmental and social 
issues. Cargolux is particularly proud to have been able to 
avoid drastic measures such as staff layoffs. 

This strategy has demonstrated the commitment of the 
company towards one of its main stakeholders, its em-
ployees. While Cargolux strives to reduce its costs as 
much as possible, the company realizes that investments 
in a skilled workforce and in environmental issues are an  
important factor in its future success that will pay divi-
dends in the years to come.

This report is based on the guidelines of 
the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI). We 
believe that our report meets application 
level C+ of the guidelines. However, being 
a global transportation company, we felt 
the necessity to go beyond and report on 

areas that are of concern to the Company but not entirely 
covered by the current version of the guidelines (noise- 
related issues, for instance).

While Cargolux maintained a similar reporting structure for 
its 2008 and 2009 reports, the company plans to review 
and further refine its sustainability reporting process in 
the coming year, in particular to monitor the relevance of 
each topic covered. Where necessary or advisable, the 
Company plans to add further reporting indicators and to 
collect corresponding data.

REPORTING bOUNdARIES

This report aims to cover the entire operations and geogra-
phical coverage of the Company, except where specified in 
the report. Certain indicators cover only our Luxembourg-
based activities. These include figures relating to waste 

disposal, Cargolux’s employees and health and safety- 
related data. It does not cover the activities of separate 
legal entities entirely or partially owned by the Company. 
However, our monitoring of fuel consumption and CO

2 emis-
sions includes the data collected by Cargolux Italia. 

EXTERNAL ASSURANCE

Cargolux asked kPMG to provide limited assurance on the 
environmental and social information in this report (pages 
24 to 46). However, the information and data published 
was collected by Cargolux and is presented entirely under 
the Company’s responsibility. kPMG’s assurance report 
can be found on page 47.  

CONTACT

Cargolux invites all interested parties to enter into dialogue 
with us about our sustainability policy, activities and about 
this report. Our policy, as well as further information on our 
activities, can be found on our web site at 

http://www.cargolux.com/sustainability/

All comments and enquires are welcome and can be forwar-
ded to us through the contact form available on our web 
site, or by writing to sustainability@cargolux.com.
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1 STRATEGY & ANALYSIS

1.1 Statement from the most senior executive  
of the organization about the relevance of sustainability to the organization and its strategy.

p. 6

1.2 Not required for C level

2 ORGANIZATIONAL PROFILE

2.1 Name of organisation. Cargolux Airlines International S.A.

2.2 Primary brands, products and/or services. Long-range transport of goods by air

2.3 Operational structure of the organization. Main company divisions: Flight Operations, Sales,  
Marketing & Ground Services, Finance & Administration, IT,  
Maintenance & Engineering, Human Resources,  
Corporate Services

2.4 Location of organization’s headquarter. Luxembourg  

2.5 Number of countries where the organization operates. 51 countries (including agents)

2.6 Nature of ownership and legal form. Société Anonyme

2.7 Markets served. Cargolux provide air freight transport services to freight  
forwarders in most parts of the world through scheduled  
and charter flights.  
This includes the regular transportation of supply-chain goods, 
finished commodities, project cargo, perishables, temperature  
and shock-sensitive goods and live animals, among others

2.8 Scale of the reporting organization. p. 9

2.9 Significant changes. None 

2.10 Awards received. - 2009 Cargo Operator of the year (Supply Chain & Transport Award, Dubai)
- 2009 Award of Excellence in Air Cargo (Stat Trade Times, Mumbai)
- 2009 Air Cargo Award of Excellence (Air Cargo World, uSA)
- 2009 Best Performing Airline 2009 (Budapest Airport)
- 2009 CFO of the year (awarded to Mr David Arendt by CFO World)

3 REPORT PARAMETERS

3.1 Reporting period. Calendar year 2009

3.2 Date previous report. April 2009

3.3 Reporting cycle. Annual

3.4 Contact point. Cargolux Corporate Affairs,
e-mail: sustainability@cargolux.com

3.5-3.8 Reporting Process & GRI, p. 44

3.10 Explanation of the effect of any re-statements. None

3.11 Significant changes from previous reporting. CO2 calculation methodology, see p. 29

3.12 Table Standard Disclosures. p. 45 

3.9, 3.13 Not required for C level
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4. GOvERNANCE

4.1 Governance structure of the organization. p. 10-11

4.2 Indicate whether the Chair of the highest governance body is also an executive officer. No

4.3 Number of members of the highest governance body.  15

4.4, 4.14, 4.15 Reporting Process and GRI, p. 44

4.5-4.13, 4.16, 4.17 Not required for C level 

ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE INdICATORS

EC1 Direct economic value generated and distributed, including revenues, operating costs, employee  
compensation, donations and other Company  
investments retained earnings, and payments to capital providers and governement.

p. 48-80

EC2-EC8 Not reported

ENvIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE INdICATORS

EN3 Direct energy consumption by primary energy source. p. 29

EN5 Energy saved due to conservation and efficiency improvements. p. 29-32

EN16 Total direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions by weight. p. 29

EN18 Initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas emissions  
and reductions achieved. 

p. 29-32

EN22 Total weight of waste by type and disposal method. p. 34

EN 1, 2, 4, 6-15, 17, 19-21, 23-28 Not reported

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE INdICATORS

LA1 Total workforce by employment type, employment contract, and region. p. 40

LA2 Total number and rate of employee turnover by age group, gender, and region. p. 40

LA4 Percentage of employees covered by collective bargaining agreements. p. 40

LA7 Rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost days, and absenteeism, and number of work related fatalities by region. p. 41

LA10 Average hours of training per year per employee  
by employee category.

p. 40

LA 3, 5, 6, 8, 9, 11-14 Not reported

HR1-HR7 Not reported

SO1-SO8 Not reported

PR1-PR9 Not reported

gri indiCators 



We were engaged by the Management of Cargolux Airlines International S.A. (“Cargolux”) to provide limited assurance on the chapters ‘Corporate social responsibility’, ‘Cargolux and the 
environment’, ‘Cargolux’s new maintenance hangar’, ‘The social dimension’ and the ‘Reporting process and GRI’ of the Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2009 of Cargolux 
(further referred to collectively as the ‘Sustainability Report’) as set out on pages 24 to 46. 

Management’s responsibility for the Sustainability Report
Management is responsible for the fair preparation and presentation of the Sustainability Report, and the information and assertions contained within it, in accordance with the Sustai-
nability Reporting Guidelines (G3) of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) as described on pages 44 to 46; for determining Cargolux’s objectives in respect of sustainable development 
performance and reporting, including the identification of stakeholders and material issues; and for establishing and maintaining appropriate performance management and internal 
control systems from which the reported performance information is derived. 

Responsibility of the Réviseur d’Entreprises 
Our responsibility is to carry out a limited assurance engagement and to express a conclusion based on the work performed. We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Inter-
national Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000, Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information as adopted by the Institut des Révi-
seurs d’Entreprises. This standard requires that we comply with applicable ethical requirements, including independence requirements, and that we plan and perform the engagement to 
obtain limited assurance about whether the Sustainability Report is free from material misstatement. 

A limited assurance engagement on a sustainability report consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for the preparation of information presented in the sustainability 
report, and applying analytical and other evidence gathering procedures, as appropriate. These procedures included: 

 Inquiries of management to gain an understanding of Cargolux’s processes for determining the material issues for Cargolux’s key stakeholder groups. 

 Interviews with senior management and relevant staff at group level and selected business unit level concerning sustainability strategy and policies for material issues,  
 and the implementation of these across the business. 

 Interviews with relevant staff at corporate and business unit level responsible for providing the information in the Sustainability Report. 

 A visit to the new maintenance hangar at Luxembourg Airport. 

 Inquiries and evaluation of the design and implementation of the systems and methods used to collect and process the information reported, including the aggregation of data into 
 information as presented in the Sustainability Report.

 Comparing the information presented in the Sustainability Report to corresponding information in the relevant underlying sources to determine whether all the relevant information 
 contained in such underlying sources has been included in the Sustainability Report. 

The extent of evidence gathering procedures performed in a limited assurance engagement is less than that for a reasonable assurance engagement, and therefore a lower level of assu-
rance is provided. 

Conclusion
Based on the procedures performed, as described above, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the Sustainability Report of Cargolux for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2009 set out on pages 24 to 46 is not presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with the Sustainability Reporting Guidelines (G3) of the Global Reporting Initiative as 
described on pages 44 to 46 of the Sustainability Report. 

Observation
Without modifying our conclusion, we would like to draw attention to the following: As Cargolux explains in the Sustainability Report, progress in the area of environment and social per-
formance in 2009, set out on pages 24 to 46, was impacted by the effects of the global economic crisis on the business. We strongly recommend Cargolux to give priority in 2010 to the 
development of a formal corporate strategy for Corporate Social Responsibility in order to provide a clear framework for its activities in the social and environmental field as well as for 
developing related targets and monitoring and reporting its performance. 

Luxembourg, April 14, 2010  
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Independent Limited Assurance Report to Cargolux Airlines International S.A.

kPMG Advisory S à r.l.
Eric COLLARd

kPMG Audit S à r.l.
Réviseurs d’Entreprises
Thierry RAvASIO

kPMG Audit Société à Responsabilité Limitée
9, allée Scheffer L-2520 Luxembourg
R.C.S. Luxembourg B 103.590
Capital 25.000 EuR



48

Cargolux
annual
report
2009

Chapter 4



Consolidated 
FinanCial statements

49



Notes IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008 

6 reveNues 1,313,725 1,983,212
7 other operatINg INcome 38,534 1,463
8 aIrcraft lease expeNses (60,371) (78,705)
9 aIrcraft maINteNaNce expeNses (96,169) (101,832)
10 other aIrcraft expeNses (3,787) (3,139)
15 deprecIatIoN expeNses (61,630) (56,185)
 fuel (522,472) (934,074)
11 persoNNel costs aNd beNefIts  (209,413) (213,980)
 haNdlINg, laNdINg aNd overflyINg  (239,042) (270,924) 
 truckINg, reforwardINg aNd truck haNdlINg   (93,056) (116,754)
12 other operatINg expeNses (125,401) (195,256)

 Operating prOfit / (lOss) befOre financing cOsts (59,082) 13,826

 fINaNcIal INcome 6,846 9,341
 fINaNcIal expeNses (72,334) (49,896)

13 net finance cOsts (65,488) (40,555)

 share of profIt of assocIates 2,275 3,784

 lOss befOre tax (122,295) (22,945)

14 curreNt tax  (372) (3,090)
14 deferred tax  (30,634) (35,008)

 lOss fOr the year (153,301) (61,043)

 lOss attributable tO:

 owNers of the compaNy (153,301) (61,043)
 NoN-coNtrollINg INterest - -

 lOss fOr the year (153,301) (61,043)
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Notes IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008 

 lOss fOr the year (153,301) (61,043)

 Other cOmprehensive incOme 

5 /13 effectIve portIoN of chaNges IN faIr value of cash flow hedges 77,586 (136,932)
5 /13 Net chaNge IN faIr value of cash flow hedges traNsferred to profIt or loss 18,698 (3,474)
14 INcome tax oN other compreheNsIve INcome  (28,249) 41,061

 curreNcy traNslatIoN adjustmeNt 534 (1,391)

 Other cOmprehensive incOme fOr the year, net Of incOme tax 68,569 (100,736)

 tOtal cOmprehensive incOme fOr the year (84,732) (161,779)

 tOtal cOmprehensive incOme attributable tO: 

 owNers of the compaNy (84,732) (161,779)
 NoN-coNtrollINg INterest - -

 tOtal cOmprehensive incOme fOr the year (84,732) (161,779)
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Consolidated  
BalanCe sheet
as at december 31, 2009

Notes IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008 

 assets  

15 aIrcraft aNd equIpmeNt 774,928 923,223 
15 other property, plaNt aNd equIpmeNt 173,093 180,810
 derIvatIve assets 19,021 23,944
16 INvestmeNts IN assocIates 36,808 35,483
 deposIts wIth thIrd partIes 54,162 53,980
17 deferred tax assets 76,735 135,619

 tOtal nOn-current assets 1,134,747 1,353,059

 expeNdable parts aNd supplIes 22,220 21,931
18 trade receIvables aNd other receIvables 239,147 350,277
19 other INvestmeNts 55,780 88,200
20 cash aNd cash equIvaleNts 218,220 103,792

 tOtal current assets 535,367 564,200

 tOtal assets 1,670,114 1,917,259

 equity  

21 Issued capItal 250,007 360,018
 share premIum 5,846 5,846
 reserves 225,679 124,610
 retaINed earNINgs 141,277 24,809
 loss for the year (153,301) (61,043)

 equity 469,508 454,240

 NoN-coNtrollINg INterest - -

 tOtal equity 469,508 454,240

 liabilities  

22 INterest-bearINg loaNs aNd borrowINgs 46,978 54,054
22 fINaNce lease lIabIlItIes 377,775 501,099
23 employee beNefIts 11,192 11,680
25 other payables 78,727 - 
 derIvatIve lIabIlItIes 68,543 148,506
24 provIsIoNs 95,543 238,369

 tOtal nOn-current liabilities 678,758 953,708

22 INterest-bearINg loaNs aNd borrowINgs 72,925 172,279
22 fINaNce lease lIabIlItIes 125,665 71,555
20 baNk overdrafts 2 1,721
25 trade payables aNd other payables 260,618 234,699
24 provIsIoNs 61,784 22,909
 taxes payable 854 6,148

 tOtal current liabilities 521,848 509,311

 tOtal liabilities 1,200,606 1,463,019

 tOtal equity and liabilities 1,670,114 1,917,259
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Consolidated 
statement  

oF Cash Flows
for the year eNded  
december 31, 2009

Notes IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008 

 cash flOw frOm Operating activities  

 loss for the year (153,301) (61,043)
 adjustmeNts for  
15  deprecIatIoN  61,630 56,185
  uNrealIzed foreIgN exchaNge losses/(gaINs)  2,372 (3,244)
13  Net fINaNce costs 65,488 40,555
  share of profIt of assocIates (2,275) (3,784)
7  gaIN oN sale of property, plaNt aNd equIpmeNt (38,534) (73)
5  fuel hedgINg (16,818) 17,516
24  chaNge IN provIsIoNs 337 84,956
12/14  tax expeNse 34,836 38,098
24 use of provIsIoNs  (18,958) (13,795)

 Operating cash flOw befOre changes in wOrking capital  (65,223) 155,371
18 chaNge IN workINg capItal from haNgar receIvable 89,823 (34,201) 
 other chaNges IN workINg capItal 28,830 9,014

 cash generated frOm the OperatiOns 53,430 130,184

 INcome tax paId (2,261) (12,083)
 INterest paId (30,198) (30,091)

 net cash frOm Operating activities 20,971 88,010

 cash flOw frOm investing activities  

15 acquIsItIoN of property, plaNt aNd equIpmeNt (19,688) (143,371)
 acquIsItIoN of assocIates (75) (143)
 acquIsItIoN of other INvestmeNts (16,954) (45,680)
 dIvIdeNds from assocIates 1,493 799
 INterest receIved 7,180 8,481
 reImbursemeNt of advaNce paymeNts - 41,329
 proceeds from sale of property, plaNt aNd equIpmeNt 154,215 29
 proceeds from sale of other INvestmeNts 49,913 27,710
 deposIts wIth thIrd partIes (5,169) (17,572)

 net cash (used in) / frOm investing activities 170,915 (128,418)

 cash flOw frOm financing activities  

 dIvIdeNds paId INcludINg INterest (23,272) -
 repaymeNt of borrowINgs (89,693) (13,630)
 repaymeNt of fINaNce lease lIabIlItIes (62,774) (44,915)
 proceeds from capItal INcrease 100,000 -
 proceeds from borrowINgs - 106,725

 net cash frOm / (used in) financing activities (75,739) 48,180

 Net INcrease IN cash aNd cash equIvaleNts 116,147 7,772
 cash aNd cash equIvaleNts at jaNuary 1 102,071 94,299

20 cash and cash equivalents at december 31 218,218 102,071
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Consolidated  
statement oF  
Changes  
in equity
for the year eNded  
december 31, 2009

in thOusands Of  
u.s. dOllar

issued  
capital

share  
premium

NoN distri
butable  
reserve

Free  
reserve

CurreNCy  
traNslatioN  

reserve 
HedgiNg  
reserve

tOtal  
reserves

retained  
earnings

tOtal  
equity

nOn- 
cOntrOlling

interest
tOtal  

equity

balance as Of  
december 31, 2007

360,018 5,846 95,372 117,000 3,124 (8,950) 206,546 43,609 616,019 - 616,019

traNsactIoNs wIth owNers

allocatIoN to restrIcted reserve                   -                    -   18,800          18,800 (18,800) - - -

total of traNsactIoNs wIth 
owNers

- - 18,800   18,800 (18,800) - - -

total compreheNsIve INcome

curreNcy traNslatIoN adjustmeNt - -   (1,391)  (1,391) - (1,391) - (1,391)

loss for 2008                   -                    -                                             - (61,043) (61,043) - (61,043)

Net chaNges IN faIr value of 
cash flow hedges, Net of tax

- -    (99,345) (99,345) - (99,345) - (99,345)

total compreheNsIve INcome - -   (1,391) (99,345) (100,736) (61,043) (161,779) - (161,779)

balance as Of
december 31, 2008

360,018 5,846 114,172 117,000 1,733 (108,295) 124,610 (36,234) 454,240 - 454,240

traNsactIoNs wIth owNers

allocatIoN to restrIcted reserve - - 11,830 (11,830)  - - - - -

restructurINg (Note 21) (210,011) - 32,500   32,500 177,511 - - -

capItal INcrease (Note 21) 100,000 -    - - 100,000 - 100,000

total of traNsactIoNs wIth 
owNers

(110,011) - 44,330 (11,830)  32,500 177,511 100,000 - 100,000

total compreheNsIve INcome

curreNcy traNslatIoN adjustmeNt - -   534  534 - 534 - 534

loss for 2009 - -    - (153,301) (153,301) - (153,301)

Net chaNges IN faIr value of 
cash flow hedges, Net of tax

- -    68,035 68,035 - 68,035 - 68,035

total compreheNsIve INcome - -   534 68,035 68,569 (153,301) (84,732) - (84,732)

balance as Of  
december 31, 2009

250,007 5,846 158,502 105,170 2,267 (40,260) 225,679 (12,024) 469,508 - 469,508
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notes to the Consolidated FinanCial statements
as of december 31, 2009

1. repOrting entity

the parent company, cargolux airlines International s.a. 
(the “company” or “cargolux”), was incorporated on march 
4, 1970 and is registered as a “société anonyme” under the 
laws of the grand duchy of luxembourg. the company is an 
all cargo airline. It also provides self and third party main-
tenance services at its luxembourg headquarters. as at 
the balance sheet date, operations outside of luxembourg 
that relate to the company’s core business are conducted 
solely under branch offices, except for Italy, where cargo-
lux conducts its business through its subsidiary cargolux 
Italia s.p.a., an all cargo airline based in milan. as at the ba-
lance sheet date the company maintained branches in 34 
countries.

the consolidated financial statements of the company for 
the year ended december 31, 2009, comprise the company 
and its subsidiaries, cargolux re s.a., cargolux Italia s.p.a. 
and Italia aerologistics s.r.l. (together referred to as the 
“group”) and the group’s interest in associates.

2. basis Of preparatiOn

(a) statement Of cOmpliance
the group prepares its consolidated financial statements 
under International financial reporting standards (“Ifrs”) 
as adopted by the eu.

the board of directors approved the consolidated finan-
cial statements for the year ended december 31, 2009 
on march 22, 2010 and authorized the publication of said 
consolidated financial statements on april 21, 2010, fol-
lowing confirmation by the shareholders thereof on that 
date.

(b) basis Of measurement 
the consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
on the historical cost basis except for the following mate-
rial items in the consolidated financial statements:

  derivative financial instruments are measured at fair 
value

  liabilities for cash-settled share-based payment arran-
gements are measured at fair value

  the defined benefit asset is recognized as the sum to-
tal of: plan assets plus service cost, actuarial losses 
minus actuarial gains and the present value of the defi-
ned benefit obligation.

(c) gOing cOncern
despite significant loss for the year, the group believes 
it is in a position to meet its commitments when they fall 
due. the group believes that the operating cash flows, the 
contracted disposal of assets, the credit facilities in place 
and the support from the shareholders will secure the liqui-
dity needs of the group for the foreseeable future and at 
least 12 months from the date of issuance of those conso-
lidated financial statements (see Notes 5 (e), 21 and 22). 
consequently, the financial statements have been prepa-
red on the basis of the assumption of the company’s ability 
to operate as a going concern. 

(d) functiOnal and presentatiOn currency
the consolidated financial statements are presented in 
united states dollars (“us dollars” or “us$”) rounded to 
the nearest thousand, which is the company’s functional 
currency. 

(e) use Of estimates and judgments
the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
in conformity with Ifrs requires management to make  
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and  
expenses. 

the estimates and related assumptions are based on histo-
rical experience and various other factors: these estimates 
and related assumptions are believed to be reasonable un-
der the circumstances and on their basis judgments about 
carrying values of assets and liabilities that can not readily 
be derived from other sources are made. actual results 
may differ from these estimates.   

the estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. revisions to accounting estimates are 
given effect in the period during which the estimate was re-
vised and in any future periods affected.

 judgments made by management in the application of 
Ifrs that have significant effect on the consolidated finan-
cial statements are discussed in Note 31.

(f) changes in accOunting pOlicies
the accounting policies set out below have been applied 
consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated 
financial statements except for the application of revised 
Ias 1 Presentation of financial statements (2007) which 
became effective as of january 1, 2009. the standard has 
only presentational impact. comparative information pre-
sented is in conformity with the revised standard.

3. significant accOunting pOlicies

(a) basis Of cOnsOlidatiOn

(i) subsidiaries

companies in which the group exercises exclusive control 
are fully consolidated. control exists when the group has 
the power directly or indirectly to govern the financial and 
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits 
from the entity’s activities. In assessing control, poten-
tial voting rights that presently are exercisable (e.g. under 
option agreements) are taken into account. the consoli-
dated financial statements of subsidiaries are included in 
the consolidated financial statements from the date that 
control commences until the date that control ceases. 

(ii) assOciates  

associates are those entities in which the group has si-
gnificant influence, but not control, over the financial and 
operating policies. the consolidated financial statements 
include the group’s share of the total recognized gains and 
losses of associates on an equity accounted basis, from 
the date that significant influence commences until the 
date that significant influence ceases. typically associa-
tes where the group controls 20% or more of the equity but 
does not exercise control are equity accounted. when the 
group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity 
accounted investee, the carrying amount of that interest 
(including any long-term investments) is reduced to nil and 
the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to 
the extent that the group has an obligation to make pay-
ments or has made payments on behalf of that investee.
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(iii) transactiOns eliminated On cOnsOlidatiOn

Intragroup balances and any unrealized gains and losses or 
income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions 
with fully consolidated entities are eliminated in preparing 
the consolidated financial statements. 

unrealized gains and losses arising from transactions with 
associates are eliminated to the extent of the group’s inte-
rest in the associate.

(iv) special purpOse entities

the group has established a number of special purpose en-
tities (spes) for aircraft financing purposes. generally the 
group does not have any direct or indirect shareholding in 
these entities. an spe is consolidated if, based on an eva-
luation of the substance of its relationship with the group 
and the spes’ risks and rewards with respect of the asset in 
its balance sheet, the group concludes that it controls the 
spes. spes controlled by the group are always established 
under terms that impose strict limitations on the decision-
making powers of the spes’ management and that result in 
the group receiving all of the benefits related to the spes’ 
operations and net assets.

(b) fOreign currency

(i) fOreign currency transactiOns 

transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the 
functional currency of the group at the foreign exchange 
rate prevailing at the date of the transaction. monetary as-
sets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated into functional currency at the foreign exchange 
rates applicable at the balance sheet date. the foreign 
currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference 
between the value of the item expressed in the functional 
currency at the beginning of the period and the value of the 
item expressed in functional currency at the end of the pe-
riod, using for translation purposes the exchange rate pre-
vailing at the end of each relevant date. the year-end value 
reflects, if and as applicable, amortization, payments and 
interest accruals effected during the period. Non-mone-
tary assets and liabilities that are stated at historical cost 
less amortization are translated into functional currency 

using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated into 
functional currency at foreign exchange rates applicable 
at the date the fair value is determined. foreign exchange 
differences arising on translation are recognized in the in-
come statement.

(ii) financial statements Of fOreign OperatiOns

the assets and liabilities of entities controlled by the group 
that have a functional currency other than the us dollar (‘fo-
reign operations”) are translated into us dollar at foreign 
exchange rates applicable at the balance sheet date. the 
rule also applies to goodwill and fair value adjustments ari-
sing on consolidation of foreign operations. the revenues 
and expenses of foreign operations are translated into us 
dollar at rates applicable at the dates of the transactions. 
foreign exchange differences arising on retranslation are 
recognized directly in a separate component of equity.

(c) derivative financial instruments, including 
hedge accOunting 
the group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge 
its exposure to the fluctuation in exchange rates, interest 
rates and fuel prices arising from operational and financing 
activities. In accordance with its hedging policy, the group 
does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for 
trading purposes. however, derivatives that do not qualify 
for hedge accounting are treated as trading instruments.

the gain or loss in the fair value of the derivative financial 
instrument is recognized in the income statement unless 
the derivative qualifies for hedge accounting, in which case 
the effective part of the derivative financial instrument is 
recognized in other comprehensive income and presen-
ted in the hedging reserve in equity.  any gain or loss with 
respect to the ineffective part of hedge accounted instru-
ments (as are gains or losses on trading instruments) is 
recognized in the income statement.

hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging ins-
trument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no 
longer qualifies for hedge accounting. at that time, any cu-

mulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognized 
in equity is retained in equity until the forecasted transac-
tion occurs. If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to 
occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognized in equity 
is transferred to net profit or loss for the period.

(d) prOperty, plant and equipment

(i) aircraft and equipment

b747-400f aircraft (including installed engines) and ro-
table spare parts (including spare engines) are stated at 
cost, adjusted for any impairment, less accumulated de-
preciation.

borrowing costs related to the acquisition of an aircraft are 
capitalized as part of the cost of this aircraft.

the initial cost of the aircraft includes the first “d-check” as 
a separate component. the costs of subsequent “d-checks” 
are capitalized when the first “d-check” (or second or third 
“d-check”, as the case may be) occurs and the capitalized 
“d-check” is depreciated over the period to the next sche-
duled “d-check”. the period of depreciation of “d-checks” is 
set forth in (v) below.

(ii) Other prOperty, plant and equipment

other items of property, plant and equipment are also sta-
ted at cost less accumulated depreciation (see Note (v)) 
and impairment, if applicable (on which see Note 3 (j)).

where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment 
have different useful lives, they are accounted for as se-
parate items of property, plant and equipment (see (v) 
below).

(iii) leased assets

1) Finance leases: 
leases under the terms of which the group assumes subs-
tantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classi-
fied as finance leases. the assets acquired by way of fi-
nance leases are recognized as non-current assets and are 
stated at an amount equal to the lower of their fair value and 
the present value of the minimum future lease payments 
at inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation 
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(see Note (v)) and impairment, if any (on which see Note 
3 (j)). the related liability is included under Finance lease 
liabilities.

2) Operating leases:
leases under the terms of which the group does not as-
sume the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as 
operating leases and are not carried on the group’s balance 
sheet. the net present value of future lease payments 
under operating leases is disclosed in the notes to these 
consolidated financial statements (see Note 26 below).

In the context of sale and operating leaseback transac-
tions, the related gains are accounted for as follows: 

 they are immediately recognized as income when the  
 transaction is realized at fair market value,

 they are deferred and amortized over the lease term  
 when the transaction is realized under or over fair value.

In the context of sale and finance leaseback transactions, 
the recognition of any gain on the sale is deferred and reco-
gnized instead as finance income over the lease term. No 
loss is recognized unless the asset is impaired.

(iv) subsequent cOsts

the group outsources the major aircraft overhaul checks, 
as well as the maintenance and repairs of engines to out-
side contractors. as of july 2009 the group performs the 
major overhaul “c-checks” internally. the cost related to 
line maintenance, “a-checks” and “c-checks” performed 
in luxembourg are expensed when incurred under various 
line items in the income statement. 

(v) depreciatiOn 

depreciation is charged to the income statement on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each 
component or part of aircraft and other property, plant and 
equipment. the estimated useful lives and residual values 
of relevant assets are as follows:

  useful life  residual value

compoNeNts of b747-400f aIrcraft:
 aIrframe 20 years  15% of INItIal cost
 eNgINes(cf6, rb 211) 12 years  10% of INItIal cost
 1st “d-check” 8 years  NIl
 subsequeNt “d-checks”    6 years  NIl
 rotable spare parts 10 years  NIl
equIpmeNt: 5 years  NIl

depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reassessed periodically as circumstances warrant. depre-
ciation is discontinued when the carrying amount of the as-
set is below its residual or sale value (see Note 15 below).

(e) investments in subsidiaries and assOciates

subsidiaries and associates are accounted for in accordan-
ce with the basis for consolidation (see Note 3 (a)).

(f) investments
treasury instruments are carried at fair value with va-
riations in value flowing through the income statement. 
these assets are classified as current assets in Other in-
vestments. related transaction costs are expensed when 
incurred.

financial instruments are recognized / derecognized by 
the group on the date it commits to purchase / sell the ins-
truments. 

(g) trade and Other receivables 
trade and other receivables are stated at their cost less im-
pairment (on which see Note 3 (j)).

(h) expendable parts and supplies
expendable parts and supplies are stated at the lower of 
cost and net realizable value. Inventories are carried on a 
first-in-first-out basis. Net realizable value is the estima-
ted market price in the ordinary course of business, less 
estimated sales costs. expendable parts and supplies are 
charged to Aircraft maintenance expenses when used.

(i) cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, call 
and short term deposits and shares in money market 
funds. bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and 
form an integral part of the group’s cash management are 
included as a component of Cash and cash equivalents in 
the statement of cash flows.

(j) impairment 

(i) nOn-financial assets

the carrying amounts of the group’s non-financial assets, 
other than expendable parts and supplies (on which see 
Note 3 (h) above) and deferred tax assets (on which see 
Note 3 (q)), are reviewed at each balance sheet date to 
determine whether there is any impairment. If any impair-
ment exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated 
and the carrying value adjusted accordingly. 

Impairment is recognized whenever the carrying amount of 
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment los-
ses are recognized in the income statement.

calculation of recoverable amount:

the recoverable amount of assets is the greater of their fair 
value (less costs to sell) and value in use. In assessing va-
lue in use, the estimated future cash flows to be derived 
from the use of the asset are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset.

Impairment is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. 
Impairment is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amor-
tization.

(ii) financial assets

a financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to de-
termine whether there is any objective evidence that the 
asset is impaired. a financial asset is considered to be  
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impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more 
events have had a negative effect on the estimated future 
cash flows of that asset.

an impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measu-
red at amortized cost is calculated as the difference 
between its carrying amount and the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows. an impairment loss in respect 
of an available-for-sale financial asset is calculated by re-
ference to its fair value.

significant financial assets are tested for impairment on 
an individual basis. the remaining financial assets are as-
sessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk 
characteristics.

all impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.

an impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be rela-
ted objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognized. for financial assets measured at 
amortized cost and available-for-sale financial assets that 
are debt securities, the reversal is recognized in profit or 
loss. for available-for-sale financial assets that are equity 
securities, the reversal is recognized directly in equity. 

(k) interest-bearing liabilities 
Interest-bearing liabilities are recognized initially at prin-
cipal amount less related transaction costs. subsequent 
to initial recognition, interest-bearing liabilities are sta-
ted at amortized amount using the effective interest rate 
method.

(l) emplOyee benefits
retirement benefit cOsts

the group maintains defined contribution and defined 
benefit pension schemes for its luxembourg based em-
ployees.

premiums paid to the insurance company in relation to de-
fined contribution retirement benefit plan are charged as 
an expense as they fall due.

the defined benefit scheme in luxembourg is accounted 
for as such under Ias 19, using the projected unit credit 

method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at each 
balance sheet date (see Note 23 below).

to the extent that any cumulative unrecognized actuarial 
gain or loss exceeds 10 per cent of the greater of the pre-
sent value of the defined benefit obligation and the fair  
value of plan assets, that portion is amortized in the income 
statement over the expected average remaining working li-
ves of the employees participating in the plan. otherwise, 
the actuarial gain or loss is not recognized.

(m) prOvisiOns 
a provision is recognized in the balance sheet when the 
group has a present legal or contractual obligation as a 
result of a past event that can be estimated reliably, and 
if it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will 
be required to settle a measurable obligation. If the effect 
is material, provisions are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money 
and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 
accruals to the future value are recognized as finance cost 
over the period.

heavy maintenance costs (“d-checks”) relating to aircraft 
under operating leases are accrued for on the basis of the 
heavy maintenance supplier agreement.

the group accrues for delivery costs related to aircraft un-
der operating leases as soon as the asset does not meet 
the return condition criteria. 

(n) trade and Other payables
trade and other payables are stated at cost.

(o) revenue - services rendered 
cargo sales, net of discounts, are recognized as revenue 
when the transportation service is provided. other reve-
nue, primarily third party aircraft maintenance, is also re-
cognized when the service is rendered.

(p) expenses 

(i) Operating lease payments 

rentals paid under operating leases are recognized in the 

income statement over the term of the lease. lease incen-
tives received are recognized in the income statement as 
an integral part of the total lease expense over the term of 
the lease. 

(ii) finance lease payments 

minimum lease payments are apportioned between the  
finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liabi-
lity. the finance charge is allocated to each period during 
the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate 
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. the 
interest expense component of finance lease payments 
is recognized in the income statement using the effective 
interest rate method.

(iii) net finance cOsts

Net finance costs comprise the net result of (i) interest 
payable on borrowings, and (ii) interest receivable on 
funds invested (Cash and cash equivalents and Other 
investments), and gains and losses (realized and unrea-
lized) on Other investments and on interest rate hedging 
instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting (see 
Note 3 (c)).

Interest income is recognized in the income statement as it 
accrues, using the effective interest method where appro-
priate. dividend income is recognized in the income state-
ment on the date the group’s right to receive the payments 
is established.

(q) incOme tax 
Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises cur-
rent and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the in-
come statement except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognized directly in equity, in which case it is recognized 
in equity or in other comprehensive Income.

current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable in-
come for the year, using tax rates applicable at the balance 
sheet date, subject to any adjustment to tax payable in res-
pect of previous years.
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deferred tax is computed using the balance sheet method, 
providing for temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. de-
ferred tax is not recognized for temporary differences rela-
ted to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they 
will probably not be reversed in the foreseeable future. the 
amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected 
manner of realization or settlement of the carrying amount 
of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted at the ba-
lance sheet date. 

a deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that 
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the deferred tax asset can be utilized. defer-
red tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date and 
are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
the related tax benefit will be realized.

(r) new standards and interpretatiOns nOt yet 
adOpted 
a number of new standards, amendments to standards and 
interpretations published by the Iasb as at december 31, 
2009 are not yet effective for the year ended december 31, 
2009, and have not been applied in preparing these conso-
lidated financial statements. None of these are expected to 
have a material effect on the consolidated financial state-
ments of the group in subsequent financial years. 

4. determinatiOn Of fair values

a number of the group’s accounting policies and disclosu-
res require the determination of fair value, for both finan-
cial and non-financial assets and liabilities. fair values 
have been determined for measurement and / or disclosure 
purposes based on the following methods. where applica-
ble, further information about the assumptions made in 
determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to 
that asset or liability.

(i) investments in equity securities 

the fair value of financial assets is determined by referen-
ce to their quoted bid price at the reporting date.

(ii) derivatives

fair values of hedging instruments, representing unreali-
zed gains and losses, are determined on the balance sheet 
date based on third party pricings and valuations, including 
valuations provided by the group’s counterparties to the 
hedging transactions. where feasible any counterparty va-
luation is verified by the group using independent sources. 
the values assume a normal functioning of financial mar-
kets. market volatility will necessarily have an impact on 
said pricings and valuations as well as the group’s eventual 
liability with respect of the hedging instruments booked at 
the balance sheet date. 

(iii) Other financial assets/liabilities

the fair value of non-current receivables and payables is 
determined by discounting future cash flows using current 
market interest rates. other financial assets and liabilities 
are carried at the fair value subject to any adjustment for 
impairment (on which see Note 3 (j) above).

5. financial risks and risk management

risk management framewOrk 

the group has exposure to the following risks with respect 
of its financial assets and use of financial instruments:

 credit risk

 liquidity risk

 market risk

the objective of risk management is to manage and control 
risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimi-
zing the benefit expected to be derived from the investing 
and risk management activities, respectively.

Credit risk
credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the group if a coun-
terparty to a financial instrument or issuer of a security 
owned by the group fails to meet its contractual obligations 
because of insolvency, bankruptcy or similar event.

Liquidity risk 
liquidity risk is the risk that a dysfunction of the market 

affects participants’ ability to access funds to finance their 
working capital requirements or to correctly price securi-
ties or derivatives.

Market risk 
market risk is the risk that changes in asset prices resulting 
from fluctuation in foreign exchange rates, interest rates or 
fuel prices will affect the group’s income or the value of its 
holdings of financial instruments. 

general 

this note presents information about the group’s exposure 
to each of the above risks, the group’s objectives, policies 
and processes for measuring and managing risk, as well as 
the group’s objectives and policies for the management of 
excess cash. where applicable, further quantitative disclo-
sures are included throughout these consolidated finan-
cial statements.

the board of directors has overall responsibility for the es-
tablishment and oversight of the group’s risk management 
framework. the board has established the risk manage-
ment committee, which is responsible for executing and 
monitoring the group’s risk management policies. the risk 
management committee reports on a regular basis to the 
board of directors and its audit committee on the commit-
tee’s activities and on the evolution of the group’s deriva-
tive portfolio.

the group’s risk management policies are established to 
identify and analyze the risks faced by the group, to set ap-
propriate risk limits and controls, to determine appropriate 
instruments to protect the group against risks and to mo-
nitor risks and financial limits. risk management policies 
and procedures are reviewed as required to reflect chan-
ges in market conditions and the group’s activities. the 
group, through its training and management standards and 
procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive 
control environment in which employees involved in the risk 
management activity understand their respective roles and 
obligations.
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Risk management policies
the group buys derivatives in order to manage market risks. 
In connection with purchases of derivatives, the group so-
metimes also sells derivatives. such transactions are car-
ried out within the risk management framework and control 
mechanisms described below. where possible the group 
seeks to apply hedge accounting for those instruments in 
order to reduce volatility in profit or loss. the group’s risk ma-
nagement policy prohibits short selling of options.

Investment policy
the primary goal of the group’s investment policy is to 
maximize investment returns while always protecting the 
invested capital. to this effect, the group invests excess 
cash, subject to limits established in its treasury policy, in 
investment funds, bank deposits, zero-coupons and struc-
tured products with a capital guarantee at maturity. the re-
turn on structured products depends on the performance of 
the underlying used, which may be equities, commodities, 
indices, currencies, securities or interest rates. structured 
products are designated as Other investments and recorded 
at fair value in the balance sheet with any change in value 
flowing through the income statement. the group does only 
purchase securities or structured investment products from 
a counterparty having a minimum, pre-determined credit ra-
ting and which makes a daily market in those securities or 
financial instruments.

(a) credit risk

Cash, derivatives and other financial instruments
generally, the group limits its exposure to credit risk by only 
making deposits with, investing in securities issued by and 
buying protection from counterparties that have a long-term 
credit rating of at least a+ from standard & poor’s and a1 
from moody’s. any exception to this rule must be approved 
by the risk management committee and is closely monito-
red. credit limits for each counterparty are in place. this ena-
bles the group to cap the maximum amount of business that 
can be transacted with any given counterparty. compliance 
with those credit limits is monitored by the risk manage-
ment committee.

the carrying amount of financial assets represents the maxi-
mum credit exposure. 

Trade and other receivables 
the group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by 
the individual characteristics of the customer and the demo-
graphics of the group’s customer base, including the default 
risk of the industry and country in which customers operate. 
the group distinguishes between countries considered as 
low risk and countries of higher risk depending on their geo-
graphical and political situation and monitors customers on 
either list separately. 

the credit committee has established a credit policy under 
which each new customer not paying through cass (cargo 
accounts settlement systems) is analyzed individually for 
creditworthiness before the group’s standard payment and 
delivery terms and conditions are offered. the group’s review 
includes external ratings, when available, and in some cases 
bank references. purchase limits are established for each 
customer, which represents the maximum open amount al-
lowed for trading without requiring approval from the credit 
committee; these limits are reviewed regularly. customers 
that fail to meet the group’s benchmark creditworthiness 
may transact with the group only on a prepayment basis or 
if they can offer collateral e.g. bank guarantees or letters of 
a credit. the creditworthiness of customers paying through 
cass is assessed and monitored by Iata which runs this clea-
ring and settlement system on behalf of the cargo carriers.

Not more than 12 percent (2008: 14 percent) of the group’s 
revenue is attributable to sales transactions with a single 
customer. the five largest customers of the group represent 
45 percent (2008: 49 percent) of the net cargo sales. more 
than 73 percent (2008: 71.5 percent) of the group’s cus-
tomers have been transacting with the group for over four 
years, and losses have occurred infrequently. In monitoring 
customer credit risk, customers are grouped according to 
their credit characteristics, including whether they are an in-
dividual or legal entity, whether they are stand alone entities 
or part of a larger group, geographic location, aging profile, 
maturity and credit history. customers that are graded as 
“high risk” are closely scrutinized and monitored, and future 

sales are made on a prepayment or collateral basis with ap-
proval of the credit committee.

the group’s credit risk exposure is mitigated by a credit 
risk insurance against delinquent customer payments pur-
chased from a professional insurer that retransfers part of 
the risk to the group’s captive reinsurance company. 

the group establishes an allowance for impairment that re-
presents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade 
and other receivables (see Note 18).

the maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at 
the reporting date by areas was:

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008

area I 27,212 31,160
area II 69,400 70,996
area III 77,319 62,096
area Iv 2,644 3,080

  176,575 167,332

cargolux is a member of the Iata clearing systems cass 
(cargo accounts settlement systems) and Ich (Iata clea-
ring house) commonly used by forwarders and airlines, 
respectively, to settle payments. In 2009, 62.7 % of re-
ceivables were cleared through cass and Ich (59.6 % in 
2008). as of december 31, 2009, 97 % (99 % in 2008) of the 
total outstanding trade debtors were within the contractual 
payment terms. the average dso of trade receivables was 
40.2 days in 2009 (40.3 days in 2008). In 2009 the group 
suffered a credit loss of us$ 0.4 million which was partially 
reimbursed by credit insurance. 
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(b) fuel risk

Fuel price 
the group’s earnings are significantly exposed to fluctuations in fuel prices.  a key challenge during 2009 was the continued decrease in fuel prices earlier in the year, only to be followed 
by a strong recovery to year-end.  at us$/ton 559, the 2009 jet market price (basis barges rotterdam) was more than us$/ton 400 below the previous year’s average.  the group incurred 
losses from fuel hedging in 2009 equivalent to us$/ton 64. this hedging loss not withstanding the overall effect on the fuel bill was, as required by the governance framework, that the 
group benefited strongly from 2009’s lower fuel prices.

Fuel hedges
the group uses derivative instruments, mainly options, to manage its fuel price risk.  most of the protection is provided through call options. to reduce the premiums paid for call options 
the group sometimes combines the purchase of call options with the sale of put options, which creates a potential for the group to pay out monies when prices are below the put strike 
price.  regular risk management committee reviews ensure a solid balancing between such downside exposures and sustained protection against high fuel prices.

as at december 31, 2009, a quantity of 191,192 metric tonnes was hedged for first half of 2010.  for second half of 2010, the coverage amounted to 155,364 metric tonnes. following the 
group’s gradual approach to building the hedge portfolio, 2011 coverage stood at 94,366 metric tonnes only. 

None of the positions built during the 2008 high price framework expires later than end-july 2010. where there were unfavorable payoffs the group has attempted to offset or limit the 
negative settlements.

guided by the governance framework of policy and procedures the group regularly added new positions to its fuel hedging portfolio throughout 2009 thereby securing breakeven levels 
for 2011 at or below forward prices as at the balance sheet date.

as at december 31, 2009, the fair value of fuel derivatives was as follows:

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008

derIvatIve assets 10,720 10,768

derIvatIve lIabIlItIes (48,171) -

balaNce at jaNuary 1 (37,451) 10,768

Net chaNge IN faIr value recogNIzed IN equIty  30,703 (30,703)

NoN-qualIfyINg hedges recogNIzed IN profIt aNd loss – prIor year  6,748 (10,768)

NoN-qualIfyINg hedges recogNIzed IN profIt aNd loss – curreNt year      10,070 (6,748)

derIvatIve assets 21,427 10,720

derIvatIve lIabIlItIes (11,357) (48,171)

balaNce at december 31 10,070 (37,451)

the change in fair value of fuel derivatives included in Other comprehensive income in 2008 has been transferred to income statement in 2009 and is recognized in fuel expenses. 
No new hedges have been considered for hedge accounting under Ias 39 in 2009.
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(c) currency risk 
the group is exposed to currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the group. the group does not incur non-
dollar denominated indebtedness to finance its assets stated in us$ in order to eliminate any related volatility in profit or loss.

at the balance sheet date, the group’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows:

62

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar eur hkd other % Of tOtal

deposIts wIth thIrd partIes 679 50 378 2.0
trade receIvables aNd other receIvables 52,497 35,760 53,627 59.3
other INvestmeNts 174 - - 0.3
cash aNd cash equIvaleNts 7,441 9,489 23,576 18.6
trade payables aNd other payables (70,479) (1,895) (9,193) 31.3
taxes payable (599) - (183) 91.5

at the immediately preceding balance sheet date, the group’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows:

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar eur hkd other  % Of tOtal

deposIts wIth thIrd partIes 5,447 51 417 11.0
trade receIvables aNd other receIvables 147,096 26,895 54,875 65.3
cash aNd cash equIvaleNts 18,654 473 15,641 33.5
INterest-bearINg, loaNs aNd borrowINgs  (33,168) - - 14.7
fINaNce lease lIabIlItIes  (7,287) - - 1.3
baNk overdrafts (855) (11) (848) 99.6
trade payables aNd other payables (66,406) (1,593) (5,565) 31.3
taxes payable (5,731) - (275) 97.7

relevant foreign exchange rates relative to the us$ were as follows:

   average rate repOrting date spOt rate

  2009 2008 2009 2008

eur  1.39449 1.47082 1.43380 1.41140
hkd  0.12901 0.12843 0.12897 0.12903

the group hedges the foreign exchange risk related to receivables through the use of forwards and options, none of which expire beyond 2010.

notes to the  
Consolidated  
FinanCial 
statements
as of december 31, 2009

Cargolux
annual
report
2009



6363

(d) interest rate risk
the group is exposed to interest rate risk on interest payments relating to its on balance sheet debt and on rental payments. additionally, the group is also exposed to interest rate risk 
related to future, non contingent interest bearing liabilities such as financings for aircraft to be delivered outside the current reporting period. the group adopts a policy of ensuring that 
its exposure to increases in interest rates on borrowings is capped or reduced while allowing the group to benefit to a certain extent from a low interest rate environment. generally, this 
objective is achieved by buying caps and selling floors. this strategy is deemed preferable than fixing the rate at the time the loan is contracted, unless at that time interest rates are 
deemed to be very low and in which case such rates are locked in via a swap or fixed interest loan. however, in a low interest rate trend environment – as was prevailing at the balance 
sheet date – this strategy results in important negative fair value of derivative instruments which are booked to equity. 

where possible the group seeks to apply hedge accounting for those instruments in order to reduce volatility in profit or loss. 

at the reporting date the interest rate profile of the group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008

fixed rate instruments  
fINaNcIal lIabIlItIes 54,102 133,804
flOating rate instruments  
fINaNcIal assets 274,000 191,992
fINaNcIal lIabIlItIes 575,750 674,137
interest rate derivatives  
NomINal amouNt of uNderlyINg fINaNcINgs IN place at the balaNce sheet date      817,311 910,266
NomINal amouNt of uNderlyINg fINaNcINgs whIch were Not IN place at the  
 balaNce sheet date (wIthIN 18 moNths) 664,795 -
NomINal amouNt of uNderlyINg fINaNcINgs whIch were Not IN place at the  
 balaNce sheet date (more thaN 18 moNths) 489,595 593,565

as at december 31, 2009, the fair value of interest rate derivatives was as follows:

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008

derIvatIve assets 28,330 11,170

derIvatIve lIabIlItIes (159,173) (28,157)

balaNce at jaNuary 1 (130,843) (16,987)

Net chaNge IN faIr value recogNIzed IN equIty  65,581 (109,703)

NoN-qualIfyINg hedges recogNIzed IN profIt aNd loss – prIor year  8,284 4,132

NoN-qualIfyINg hedges recogNIzed IN profIt aNd loss – curreNt year      (29,702) (8,284)

derIvatIve assets 18,982 28,330

derIvatIve lIabIlItIes (105,662) (159,173)

balaNce at december 31  (86,680) (130,843)
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(e) liquidity risk
the group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions. 

the group is subject to loan covenants for some of its borrowing and finance lease arrangements, which in case of breach, unless waived would entitle the lending parties to demand pre-
payment of the loan. financial covenants require the group to respect certain balance sheet and interest and rental coverage ratios. under one such covenant ebItdar (earnings before 
interest, tax, depreciation, amortization and rentals) must cover 1.3 times net interest expense plus rentals for the period. as at december 31, 2009, the group did not meet this covenant 
but received waivers from the lenders having extended the covenanted loans (see Note 22).

the following are the contractual maturities of liabilities:

    further 
IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2010 2011 2012 than 2012

INterest-bearINg lIabIlItIes (71,846) (46,985) - -
fINaNce lease lIabIlItIes (124,969) (39,811) (40,939) (305,301)
baNk overdrafts (2) - - -
trade payables aNd other payables (212,000) (19,682) (19,682) (39,363)
derIvatIve lIabIlItIes     (40,371) (23,355) (8,960) (8,328)
taxes payable (854) - - -

 (450,042) (129,833) (69,581) (352,992)

as at december 31, 2009, the group is in a net current asset position.

In addition to routine capital repayment under interest bea-
ring loans, finance lease liabilities and rentals under opera-
ting leases, the group faces the following payments during 
the year immediately following the balance sheet date:

  capital expenditures relating to the acquisition of 2 
b747-8f, related components, spare engine and a fli-
ght simulator (approximately us$ 350 million).

  repayment of the pre-delivery payment facility drawn 
in prior years to fund the deposits on the first 2 b747-
8f to be delivered in december 2010 (us$ 64.4 mil-
lion). the facility was partially prepaid in december 
2009.

  payment of the second installment of the fine payable 
to the us doj (us$ 20.7 million) (see Note 24).

  pre-delivery payments to boeing in an amount yet to 
be agreed with boeing but expected to amount to ap-
proximately us$ 15 million. 

the group will be able to meet its financing needs for the 
following reasons:

  the group intends to pay its liabilities out of operating 
cash flows, the sale of an aircraft to silkway of azer-
baijan in october 2010 and the sale of miscellaneous 
non-strategic assets (e.g. spare engines).

  the group expects to finance its aircraft acquisitions 
in 2010 with funded debt. on November 3, 2009 the 
group has received a preliminary commitment from 
the ex-Im bank of the united states to support the fi-
nancing of the first 6 b747-8f on order.

  the group maintains credit lines to ensure that it will 
be able to face its obligations when they fall due. as at 
december 31, 2009, the group had the following credit 
lines available for drawing:

 -  committed credit lines (i.e. lines with respect of which 
the group pays commitment fees): us$ 32.5 million 
and eur 0.9 million.

 -  state guaranteed standby credit facility: eur 100  
million:

  on december 18, 2009, the group signed with the 
luxembourg government and six financial institutions 
a state guaranteed credit facility under the law of may 
29, 2009 enabling the government to issue its gua-
rantee to undertakings which are temporarily affected 
by the crisis but are otherwise sound. the group will 
be able to draw under the facility in 2010 and 2011. 
the outstanding amount under the facility at year-
end 2011 is to be repaid in three equal installments 
between 2012 and 2014 subject to any prepayment. 

  the group received financial support from its sharehol-
ders through an increase of capital of us$ 100 million 
drawn from an authorized capital of us$ 200 million. 
a further us$ 100 million can be drawn at the discre-
tion of the board of directors provided that a capital 
injection is foreseen (up to the remaining balance of 
the authorized capital) if the group would otherwise 
breach a solvency ratio provided in certain loan agree-
ments.
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(f) sensitivity analysis
In managing currency, interest rate and fuel price risks, 
the group seeks to reduce the impact of short- to medium-
term changes in values on the group’s budgeted earnings 
and cash flows. over the longer term, however, permanent 
changes in any or all of the above would have a material im-
pact on earnings and cash flows.

at december 31, 2009, it is estimated that a general in-
crease of one percentage point in interest rates would have 
decreased the group’s profit before tax by approximately 

us$ 0.6 million. Interest rate swaps and other hedging ins-
truments that were in place at that time have been included 
in this calculation. 

It is estimated that a general increase of one percentage 
point in the value of the us dollar against other foreign 
currencies throughout the year would have decreased the 
group’s profit before tax by approximately us$ 3.1 million. 
the forward exchange contracts and other hedging instru-
ments that were in place at that time have been included in 
this calculation.

It is estimated that an increase of us$/t 50 in the price of 
jet fuel (basis barges rotterdam) over a one-year period 
would have increased the group’s fuel bill by around 40 mil-
lion. the impact on the profit and loss of such an increase 
can be offset by up to 100% by cash inflows from both fuel 
hedging and the fuel surcharge program.

(g) fair values
the fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together 
with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet, are 
as follows:

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar  31 december 2009  31 december 2008 

 carrying amOunt fair value carrying amOunt fair value

assets carried at fair value    
other INvestmeNts 42,992 42,992 51,391 51,391
INterest rate traNsactIoNs through profIt aNd loss 14,173 14,173 28,330 28,330
fuel derIvatIve coNtracts through profIt aNd loss 21,427 21,427 10,720 10,720
forward exchaNge coNtracts used for hedgINg - - 4,477 4,477

 78,592 78,592 94,918 94,918

assets carried at amOrtized cOsts    
loaNs aNd receIvables 239,147 239,147 350,277 350,277
cash aNd cash equIvaleNts 218,220 218,220 103,792 103,792

 457,367 457,367 454,069 454,069

liabilities carried at fair value    
INterest rate traNsactIoNs used for hedgINg (100,853) (100,853) (159,174) (159,174)
fuel derIvatIve coNtracts used for hedgINg (11,357) (11,357) (48,171) (48,171)
forward exchaNge coNtracts used for hedgINg (142) (142) (2,804) (2,804) 

 (112,352) (112,352) (210,149) (210,149)

liabilities carried at amOrtized cOst
secured baNk loaNs (118,831) (113,551) (225,140) (210,907)
fINaNce lease lIabIlItIes (511,020) (402,425) (581,081) (461,255)
trade aNd other payables  (260,618) (260,618) (234,699) (234,699)
baNk overdraft (2) (2) (1,721) (1,721)

 (890,471) (776,596) (1,042,641) (908,582)

the basis for determining fair values is discussed in Note 4.
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(h) fair values hierarchy
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6. revenues

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008 

cargo sales 1,295,070 1,963,850
thIrd party maINteNaNce reveNue 5,005 8,424
other reveNues 13,650 10,938

  1,313,725 1,983,212

cargo sales represent revenues directly related to the group’s 
core business, i.e. air freight, net of customer incentives and 
rebates. the largest contributors to net turnover were area 
III (asia & pacific) traffic and area II (europe & west africa) 
traffic, which collectively accounted for 73% of net turnover 
(2008: 78%). the third largest contributor to net turnover was 
area I (the americas) traffic, accounting for approximately 18% 
(2008: 16%) with the balance accounted for by area Iv (middle 
east, south & east africa) and charter traffic.

Included in Other revenues are trucking, handling and other 
services rebilled to freight forwarders.

7. Other Operating incOme

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008 

gaIN oN sale of property, 
plaNt aNd equIpmeNt 38,534 73
foreIgN exchaNge gaIN, Net - 1,390

  38,534 1,463

during 2009, the group realized a capital gain on the sale of 
two b747-400 aircraft.

8. aircraft lease expenses

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008

aIrcraft reNtals uNder dry leases 48,670 55,301
aIrcraft reNtals uNder wet leases 5,800 21,489
fees payable uNder blockspace 
agreemeNts 2,262 458
returN coNdItIoNs provIsIoN 
wIth respect of dry leased aIrcraft 3,639 1,457

  60,371 78,705

at the balance sheet date the group dry leased the following 
aircraft: lx-gcv, lx-kcv, lx-ocv, lx-pcv and lx-wcv.

the classification of the lease on lx-mcv changed fol-
lowing the notice given in 2008 by the group to exercise a 
purchase option on this aircraft (see Note 15 below).

during the 2009 high season, the group wet-leased b747-
200f capacity from southern air and air atlanta. 

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 31 december 2009 31 december 2008

 level 1 level 2 tOtal level 1 level 2 tOtal

other INvestmeNts 17,058 25,934 42,992 12,720 38,671 51,391
INterest rate traNsactIoNs through profIt aNd loss  - 14,173 14,173 - 28,330 28,330
fuel derIvatIve coNtracts through profIt aNd loss - 21,427 21,427 - 10,720 10,720
forward exchaNge coNtracts used for hedgINg - - - - 4,477 4,477

 17,058 61,534 78,592 12,720 82,198 94,918

INterest rate traNsactIoNs used for hedgINg  - (100,853) (100,853) - (159,174) (159,174)
fuel derIvatIve coNtracts used for hedgINg    - (11,357) (11,357) - (48,171) (48,171)
forward exchaNge coNtracts used for hedgINg - (142) (142) - (2,804) (2,804)

 - (112,352) (112,352) - (210,149) (210,149)

level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
level 2: inputs other than prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)
level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)
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during 2008, the group wet-leased from air atlanta one 
b747-200f during the whole year, one b747-400f from  
january to and including april and one additional b747-
200f for the last three months of the year.

9. aircraft maintenance expenses (OutsOurced)

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008

eNgINe repaIr aNd overhaul 68,936 69,165
heavy maINteNaNce (“c-checks” aNd  
“d-checks” oN dry leased aIrcraft) 1,071 5,626
compoNeNt aNd brakes repaIr 7,663 8,430
stock coNsumptIoN 8,275 9,053
lINe maINteNaNce at statIoNs 5,147 5,170
other maINteNaNce expeNses  5,077 4,388

  96,169 101,832

10. Other aircraft expenses

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008

INsuraNces, INcludINg 
fleet INsuraNce 3,787 3,139

  3,787 3,139

11. persOnnel cOsts and benefits

by categOry Of expenses  

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008

salarIes, overtIme, 13th moNth  170,499 176,837
socIal securIty 19,654 17,986
emplOyee benefits  
 - expeNses related to defINed  
 beNefIt plaNs 627 731
 - expeNses related to defINed 
 coNtrIbutIoN plaNs 3,632 3,715
 - other (accIdeNt aNd 
 INvalIdIty INsuraNce) 6,593 3,849
traININg aNd suNdry 
persoNNel charges 8,408 10,862

  209,413 213,980

average number Of staff by categOry    

  2009 2008

operatIoNs (INcludINg crews) 465 460
sales aNd marketINg 512 505
maINteNaNce 393 399
fINaNce aNd admINIstratIoN 84 83
geNeral maNagemeNt (INcludINg 
humaN resources, publIc relatIoNs 
aNd INterNal audIt) 66 62

  1,520 1,509

as of december 31, 2009 1,240 (2008: 1,284) employees 
were based in countries of the european union, of which 
1,112 in luxembourg (2008: 1,155).

the collective work agreement (cwa) covering luxembourg 
based staff other than managers and exempt employees 
expired during the period under review. a renewal or exten-
sion of the cwa is still under negotiation. 

12. Other Operating expenses

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008

gsa commIssIoNs 14,813 17,629
It servIces 32,029 34,464
travel & eNtertaINmeNt 18,718 21,584
offIce aNd offIce equIpmeNt 
(reNtal aNd maINteNaNce) 13,309 9,086
legal, audIt aNd coNsultINg fees 14,577 10,828
valuatIoN allowaNce 
oN curreNt assets  1,066 2,408
telecommuNIcatIoN expeNses 1,916 2,098
Net worth tax 3,830 -
foreIgN exchaNge loss, Net 12,339 -
mIscellaNeous 18,761 19,477
aNtI-trust provIsIoNs (5,957) 77,682

  125,401 195,256

gsa commissions represent commissions payable to the 
group’s general sales agents.

valuation allowance on current assets relate to doubtful 
customers and stock obsolescence.

In connection with the anti-trust investigations and pro-
ceedings initiated against the group by anti-trust autho-
rities in various jurisdictions, the group constituted in its 
2006 accounts a provision of us$ 20 million to provide for 
legal fees payable to counsel representing the group and 
certain group executives in these proceedings. In 2009, 
us$ 3.4 million (in 2008 us$ 4.5 million) was added to that 
provision (under “legal, audit and consulting fees” above). 

In 2007, a provision of us$ 154.9 million was constituted to 
cover the group’s exposure with respect of anti-trust pro-
ceedings initiated against the group by the eu commission. 
this provision was adjusted in 2009 and in 2008 to reflect a 
delay in the expected decision of the eu commission regar-
ding a fine, the benefit of a multi-year payment schedule, 
the recalculation of the discount the group expects to ob-
tain in connection with its ongoing cooperation with the eu 
commission in its investigation and the specific economic 
context. the group has constituted new provisions to cover 
its exposure in connection with investigations conducted 
by the anti-trust authorities of canada, south korea and 
switzerland. see also Notes 24 and 28 below.

legal, audit and consulting fees include an amount of us$ 
0.4 million (in 2008 us$ 0.4 million) accrued for audit fees 
and an amount of us$ 0.1 million (in 2008 us$ 0.1 million) 
paid for tax services to kpmg.
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13. net finance cOsts

recOgnized in prOfit Or lOss 

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008  

Net chaNge IN faIr value of fINaNcIal INstrumeNts  1,750 2,501
INterest INcome oN baNk deposIts 4,690 6,235
INterest oN loaNs aNd receIvables 143 -
other fINaNcIal INcome  (Iata call day adjustmeNts, dIscouNts receIved) 263 605

 financial incOme 6,846 9,341
  
INterest expeNse (37,427) (31,050)
Net chaNge IN faIr value of fINaNcIal INstrumeNts  (21,472) (7,402)
accrued INterest oN Net preseNt value of provIsIoNs booked IN prIor year (11,173) (9,625)
other fINaNcIal expeNses (baNk charges, loaN ageNcy fees, cass commIssIoNs) (2,262) (1,819)

 financial expenses (72,334) (49,896)

 net finance cOsts (65,488) (40,555)

the increase in “net change in fair value of financial instruments” is due primarily to the requalification of 3 interest rate derivative transactions which were booked to equity in prior year under hedge 
accounting principles.

recOgnized in Other cOmprehensive incOme

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008  

effectIve portIoN of chaNges IN faIr value of INterest cash flow hedges 77,586 (106,229)
Net chaNge IN faIr value of cash flow hedges traNsferred to profIt or loss (12,005) (3,474)
INcome tax oN fINaNce INcome aNd fINaNce costs recogNIzed IN other compreheNsIve INcome (19,241) 32,187

finance incOme recOgnized in Other cOmprehensive incOme (expenses), net Of tax  46,340 (77,516)
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14. incOme tax expense

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008  

current tax expense
curreNt year 372 2,152
adjustmeNts for prIor years - 938

  372 3,090

deferred tax expense 
orIgINatIoN aNd reversal of temporary dIffereNces (837) 39,812
beNefIt of tax losses (27,828) (25,166)
reassessmeNt of INvestmeNt tax credIt 59,299 20,362

  30,634 35,008

tOtal incOme tax expense in incOme statement  31,006 38,098

incOme tax recOgnized in Other cOmprehensive incOme 28,249 (41,061)

origination and reversal of temporary differences mainly relates to different depreciation periods on aircraft and derivative accounting.

recOnciliatiOn Of effective tax rate

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2009 2008 2008

loss before tax  (122,295)  (22,945)
INcome tax usINg the domestIc rate 29.34% (35,881) 30.38% (6,971)
share of profIt of assocIates  (667)  (1,150)
effect of curreNt tax IN foreIgN braNches  30  (757)
NoN deductIble expeNses / uNrecogNIzed dta  8,569  28,378
tax exempt reveNues  (344)  (353)
effect of INvestmeNt tax credIt  59,299  17,717
effect of chaNge IN tax rate  -  5,329
uNder / (over) provIded IN prIor years  -  938
beNefIt of tax losses  -  (5,033)

incOme tax expense  31,006 38,098

the group is subject to corporate income tax, municipal bu-
siness tax and net worth tax in luxembourg. the group is 
also subject to certain taxes in foreign tax jurisdictions in 
which it maintains permanent establishments. 

In 2008, the determination of the tax basis of assets and 
liabilities and the related taxable income were changed and 
resulted in tax losses. the reassessment of investment tax 
credit is linked to the expiry of investment tax credits (Itc) 
in 2009, 2010 and 2011 which are not expected to be used 
due to the 2009 tax losses and the downwards revision of 

the business plan for the period 2010-2013, which shows 
an important decline of taxable profit due to the adverse 
economic environment. the benefit of the Itc led to the re-
cognition of a tax asset in prior years (see Note 17 below).
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15. prOperty, plant and equipment

     paymeNts  
     oN accouNts  
     aNd assets  
  aIrcraft aNd laNd aNd other IN course of  
IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar equIpmeNt buIldINgs equIpmeNt coNstructIoN tOtal

cost at begINNINg of year 1,429,005 7,959 33,332 172,178 1,642,474
acquIsItIoNs 4,540 239 3,917 10,992 19,688
traNsfer from assets uNder coNstructIoN - 260 30 (290) -
d-check  (5,500) - - - (5,500)
reImbursemeNt of advaNce paymeNts - - - (20,000) (20,000)
dIsposals (Note 7) (248,658) (87) (1,893) - (250,638)

at eNd of year 1,179,387 8,371 35,386 162,880 1,386,024

accumulated deprecIatIoN at begINNINg of year (505,782) (7,373) (25,287) - (538,442)
charge for the year (58,767) (257) (2,606) - (61,630)
d-check wrIte off 5,500 - - - 5,500
adjustmeNts for dIsposals 154,590 87 1,892 - 156,569

at eNd of year (404,459) (7,543) (26,001) - (438,003)

Net book value as of december 31, 2009 774,928 828 9,385 162,880 948,021

Net book value as of december 31, 2008 923,223 586 8,046 172,178 1,104,033

aircraft subject tO finance leases

the company leases aircraft under a number of finance 
lease agreements lx-mcv, lx-rcv, lx-scv, lx-tcv, lx-ucv, 
lx-vcv and lx-ycv (2008: lx-mcv, lx-rcv, lx-scv, lx-tcv, 
lx-ucv, lx-vcv and lx-ycv). at the end of each of the leases 
the group has the option to purchase the equipment at a 
preferential or favorable price. at december 31, 2009, the 
net carrying amount of leased aircraft under finance leases 
was us$ 609.0 million (2008: us$ 661.9 million).

security 

at december 31, 2009, aircraft and equipment with a 
carrying amount of us$ 738.7 million (2008: us$ 791.6 
million) are subject to mortgages to secure the bank loans 
relating to lx-lcv, lx-Ncv, lx-rcv, lx-scv, lx-tcv, lx-ucv, 
lx-vcv, lx-mcv and lx-ycv (2008: lx-lcv, lx-Ncv, lx-

rcv, lx-scv, lx-tcv, lx-ucv, lx-vcv, lx-mcv and lx-ycv).  
on may 28, 2008 the grand-duchy of luxembourg ratified 
the cape town convention on international interests in 
mobile equipment (cape town 2001). the convention was 
enacted into luxembourg law effective of december 12, 
2008. some of the group’s aircraft are or will be subject to a 
mortgage registration in the cape town registry.

depreciatiOn 

In july 2008, the group sold lx-mcv and lx-Ncv on a 
forward basis to an unrelated party with delivery dates in 
2010 and 2011. the sales price for lx-Ncv was above its 
then carrying value, resulting in discontinuance of the re-
lated depreciation expense for the balance of 2008 and 
further years.

In april 2007 the group sold lx-lcv on a forward basis to an 
unrelated party with delivery date 2010. the sales price for 
this aircraft was above its then carrying value resulting in 
discontinuance of the related depreciation expense for the 
balance of 2007 and further years.

capitalized bOrrOwing cOsts

assets under construction include capitalization of bor-
rowing costs for an amount of us$ 8.5 million (2008: 4.2 
million).
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16. investments in assOciates

the group has the following investments in associates:

       owNershIp
      couNtry 2009 2008

luxfuel s.a.     luxembourg 30% 30%
champ cargosystems s.a.     luxembourg 49% 49%
freIghter leasINg s.a.     luxembourg 33% 33%

summary financial information for equity accounted investees, not adjusted for the percentage ownership held by the group: 

        profIt 
IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar  owNershIp assets equIty lIabIlItIes reveNues  / (loss)

2009      

luxfuel s.a.  30% 8,890 5,029 3,861 6,812 1,670
champ cargosystems s.a.  49% 77,343 48,443 28,900 53,962 3,381
freIghter leasINg s.a.  33% 221,940 5,861 216,079 25,269 6,188

    308,173 59,333 248,840 86,043 11,239

2008      

luxfuel s.a.  30% 12,677 8,341 4,336 10,690 2,218
champ cargosystems s.a.  49% 77,171 44,336 32,835 58,576 4,149
freIghter leasINg s.a.  33% 232,548 (294) 232,842 28,938 3,258

    322,396 52,383 270,013 98,204 9,625
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17. deferred tax assets and liabilities

deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

 assets liabilities net

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

aIrcraft aNd equIpmeNt 12,223 15,512 - - 12,223 15,512
other property, plaNt aNd equIpmeNt 524 - - (1,458) 524 (1,458)
derIvatIve assets - - (5,581) (7,025) (5,581) (7,025)
INvestmeNts IN assocIates 5,630 5,059 - - 5,630 5,059
trade receIvables aNd other receIvables - - (2,149) (1,111) (2,149) (1,111)
other INvestmeNts - - (5,033) (3,925) (5,033) (3,925)
cash aNd cash equIvaleNt - - (233) - (233) -
INterest-bearINg loaNs aNd borrowINgs - - (14) (44) (14) (44)
fINaNce lease lIabIlItIes - 410 (802) - (802) 410
employee beNefIts - - (165) (192) (165) (192)
derIvatIve lIabIlItIes 20,110 43,572 - - 20,110 43,572
trade aNd other payables 9,109 12,138 - - 9,109 12,138
provIsIoNs - - (9,878) (11,782) (9,878) (11,782)
beNefIt of tax losses brought forward 52,994 25,166 - - 52,994 25,166
INvestmeNt tax credIt - 59,299 - - - 59,299

tax assets / (lIabIlItIes) 100,590 161,156 (23,855) (25,537) 76,735 135,619

set off tax (23,855) (25,537) 23,855 25,537 - -

Net tax assets 76,735 135,619   76,735 135,619

deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented net be-
cause the group has the legal right to offset.

deferred tax adjustments of us$ 28.2 million were reco-
gnized in equity in 2009 and us$ 41.1 million in 2008 (see 
Note 14).

the group reassessed the possibility to use investment tax 
credits in future period and calculated, in view of tax los-
ses, that the tax asset should be reversed.

an Itc for an amount of us$ 66.2 million and deferred tax 
losses for an amount of us$ 17.2 million have not been re-
cognized.

18. trade receivables and Other receivables

trade receivables of us$ 176.6 million (2008: us$ 167.3 
million) are shown net of any impairment losses recogni-
zed in the current year.

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008

trade receIvables 176,575 167,332
receIvable from marIe-lease s.à r.l. - 89,823
prepaId expeNses 18,877 50,300
advaNces paId to supplIers 7,858 7,550
vat  5,556 4,280
derIvatIve assets  21,388 19,584
other receIvables 8,893 11,408

  239,147 350,277
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In 2009, the new hangar was completed resulting in the 
payment of the receivable from marie-lease s.à r.l. and the 
inception of an operating lease agreement on that property 
(see Notes 26 and 31).

prepaid expenses include security deposits made in 
connection with operating leases, rental payments made 
in advance, premium paid for the purchase of options and 
other prepayments.

19. Other investments

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008

restrIcted cash 12,788 36,809
securItIes held at faIr value 
through profIt aNd loss 42,992 51,391

  55,780 88,200

restricted cash comprises an amount of us$ 6 million se-
curing letters of credit issued on behalf of the group. cash 
and securities for an amount of us$ 25.6 million are pled-
ged as collateral in derivative transactions.

20. cash and cash equivalents

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008

baNk balaNces 31,138 57,214
short term deposIts 187,082 46,578
cash aNd cash equIvaleNts 218,220 103,792
baNk overdrafts (2) (1,721)

cash and cash equivalents in the 
statement Of cash flOws 218,218 102,072

21. capital and reserves 

share capital and main sharehOlders

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar
excludINg share Numbers 2009 2008

Issued aNd subscrIbed 250,007 360,018
10,000,300 comprIsed of 6,000,300  
regIstered commoN shares of No  
par value aNd 4,000,000 regIstered  
class b shares of No par value  
(2008: 6,000,300 commoN shares)

the main shareholders are:
  2009 2008

luxaIr 52.1% 34.9%
baNque et caIsse d’epargNe de l’etat (bcee) 13.1% 8.8%
sNcI  12.8% 8.6%
bIp INvestmeNt partNers 11.5% 11.5%
luxembourg state 8.0% -
lux-avaNtage 2.2% 2.2%
INdIvIdual shareholders 0.3% 0.3%
saIrlINes - 33.7%

In November 2009, the shares previously owned by sairli-
nes were bought by luxair, bcee, sNcI and the luxembourg 
state.

In November and december 2009, the group’s capital was 
restructured in compliance with articles 26-5 and 69(4) of 
the luxembourg company law as follows:

  reduction of capital from us$ 360.0 million to us$ 
150.0 million through (i) absorption of losses of us$ 
177.5 million incurred in prior year and up to october 
31, 2009 and (ii) allocating us$ 32.5 million to a new 
un-distributable reserve.

  capital increase of us$ 100.0 million by issuance of 
4,000,000 class b shares subscribed by all the share-
holders except the luxembourg state and one indivi-
dual shareholder.

the class b shares vote on a pari passu basis with the com-
mon shares and carry a preferential dividend. the class b 
shares were created pursuant to a decision taken by the 
shareholders on November 30, 2009. following the capi-
tal increase, 4,000,000 class b shares remain available 

for issuance. the shareholders have granted authority to 
the board of directors to issue an additional us$ 100.0 mil-
lion during a 5 year period commencing on the date of the 
authorization (November 30, 2009). the shareholders have 
waived their preferential subscription rights in connection 
with any further issue of class b shares.  

all the shareholders apart from the luxembourg state are 
party to a shareholders’ agreement which provides in-
ter alia for pre-emption rights in case of a share sale and 
contains certain corporate governance provisions. 

No dividend on the common shares and the b shares can be 
paid as long as the state guaranteed stand by credit line is 
outstanding (see Note 5 (e)).

Reserves
reserves comprise the legal reserve, various non-distribu-
table reserves, including the reserve constituted pursuant 
to article 69(4) of the luxembourg company law, net worth 
tax reserve, the free reserve, the currency translation re-
serve and the hedging reserves.

Legal reserve
under luxembourg corporate law, the company must allo-
cate at least five percent of the statutory annual net pro-
fit to a legal reserve until this reserve reaches 10% of the 
issued share capital. the legal reserve is not available for 
dividend distributions. the reserve exceeds the legal limit 
of 10% of issued share capital.

Net worth tax reserve 
to forego payment of the net worth tax, the company has 
utilized the option provided by luxembourg law and deci-
ded to constitute and maintain a restricted reserve as of 
fiscal year 2003. any dividend payments from this reserve 
during the restricted period would suffer tax.

Currency translation reserve 
the currency translation reserve comprises all foreign 
currency differences arising from the translation of the 
consolidated financial statements of foreign operations 
(see Note 3 (b)).

Hedging reserve
the hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the 
cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedge 
accounted derivative instruments.
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22.   interest-bearing lOans and bOrrOwings and finance lease liabilities

this note provides information about the contractual terms of the group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings. for more information about the group’s exposure to interest rate and 
foreign currency risk, see also Note 5 (c) and (d).

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008

nOn-current liabilities
secured baNk loaNs   46,985 54,101
loaN orIgINated costs   (7) (47)

tOtal   46,978 54,054
fINaNce lease lIabIlItIes   386,051 511,020
loaN orIgINated costs   (8,276) (9,921)

tOtal   377,775 501,099

grand tOtal   424,753 555,153

current liabilities  
INterest payable oN curreNt aNd NoN-curreNt lIabIlItIes   3,399 4,495
loaN orIgINated costs   (1,624) (1,760)
curreNt portIoN of secured/uNsecured baNk loaNs    71,846 171,038
curreNt portIoN of fINaNce lease lIabIlItIes    124,969 70,061

tOtal   198,590 243,834

terms and debt repayment schedule 

terms and conditions of outstanding loans were as follows:

    nOminal  principal principal
    interest year Of amOunt amOunt
IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar currency  rate maturity 2009 2008

secured baNk loaNs us$  fIxed 2011 54,102 107,243
secured baNk loaNs eur  eurIbor 3m + 0.9%  - 33,168
pdp fINaNcINgs us$  lIbor 3m + margIN 2010 64,729 84,729
fINaNce lease lIabIlItIes us$  fIxed, lIbor 6m + margIN, 2010, 2013, 511,020 573,794
     eIb 3m + margIN, lIbor 3m + margIN 2014, 2020 
fINaNce lease lIabIlItIes eur  fIxed  - 7,287

tOtal interest-bearing liabilities     629,851 806,221

the maturity analysis is provided in Note 5 (e).
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finance lease liabilities

finance lease liabilities are repayable as follows:

     minimum  
  minimum lease   lease  
  payments interest principal payments interest principal
IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2009 2009 2008 2008 2008

less thaN oNe year 129,480 4,511 124,969 84,511 14,450 70,061
betweeN oNe aNd fIve years 245,323 11,108 234,215 362,425 28,763 333,662
more thaN fIve years 155,053 3,217 151,836 188,570 11,212 177,358

  529,856 18,836 511,020 635,506 54,425 581,081

under the terms of the lease agreements, no contingent rents are payable.

breach Of lOan cOvenant

In some of the group’s borrowing and finance lease agreements the group undertakes to meet financial ratios to be tested on the basis of the consolidated audited annual consolidated 
financial statements for that year. under one such covenant ebItdar must exceed 1.3 times net interest plus aircraft rentals.

based on year-to-date performance and projections, the group decided in october 2009 to request waivers from counterparties in relevant agreements as the interest and rental coverage 
covenant was likely to be breached for the financial year 2009. all necessary waivers were obtained from the lenders of the covenanted debt before year-end.

the group’s liquidity position is discussed in detail in Note 5 (e) above. 

capital ratiOs 

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar    2009 2008 

outstaNdINg loaNs    119,903 226,333
outstaNdINg fINaNce lease oblIgatIoNs    503,440 572,654

 tOtal debt    623,343 798,987

less cash aNd cash equIvaleNts aNd other INvestmeNts    (273,998) (190,271)

 net debt    349,345 608,716

preseNt value of future lease paymeNts    218,710 185,179

 adjusted net debt    568,055 793,895

 equity    469,508 454,240

Net debt/equIty    74.4% 134.0%
adjusted Net debt/equIty    121.0% 174.8%

It is the group’s intention to manage its balance sheet so that the adjusted net debt/equity ratio will not exceed 250% as at any balance sheet date.

as at 31 december 2009 and 2008, the group was in compliance with a loan covenant which requires that equity represents at least 1/6 of total liabilities plus net present value of non-
cancellable operating lease obligations.
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23. emplOyee benefits

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar    2009 2008

faIr value of plaN assets    (11,431) (11,827)
preseNt value of Net oblIgatIoNs    16,822 17,470
uNrecogNIzed actuarIal gaINs     584 392

recogNIzed lIabIlIty for defINed beNefIt oblIgatIoNs (see below)   5,975 6,035
other employee beNefIts    5,217 5,645

tOtal emplOyee benefits    11,192 11,680

the group maintains defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes for its staff in luxembourg. effective january 1, 1997, the terms of the pension plan were amended for all 
staff who had not reached retirement age at that date. all staff who were retired at this date continue to be covered by the previous plan. under the new schemes (covering under identical 
vesting rules the crews and the ground staff covered by collective work agreements and the managers), retirement benefits are generally paid in one lump sum. the rights to pension 
benefits commence at entry date and are fully vested after 5 years of service. the group’s pension fund obligations (other than the liabilities with respect of the pensioners at january 1, 
1997) and related assets were transferred to a life insurance company in 2002 and are held separately from the group. the group is current with respect of its payment obligations of the 
annual premiums due under the group’s pension schemes and such premiums are expensed under Personnel costs and benefits.

the group also maintains separate insurance schemes providing for death, orphan, widow and disability benefits. these schemes are covered by an insurance plan and the related insu-
rance premiums are reflected as a current year operating expense.

the cargolux defined benefit scheme is not a multi-employer scheme and sufficient information is available to determine the obligation, plan assets and costs to the group. the funding 
requirements are determined pursuant to the projected unit funding method and the pension cost and provision have been assessed by a third party qualified actuary. the latest full 
pension scheme valuation was performed by the scheme’s actuaries in january 2010.

mOvements in the net liability fOr defined benefit ObligatiOns recOgnized in the balance sheet

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar    2009 2008

Net lIabIlIty for defINed beNefIt oblIgatIoNs at jaNuary 1, 2009   6,035 5,841
coNtrIbutIoNs receIved    (555) (571)
peNsIoN paymeNts    (227) (373)
expeNse recogNIzed IN the INcome statemeNt (see below)    627 731
foreIgN exchaNge Impact    95 407

Net lIabIlIty for defINed beNefIt oblIgatIoNs at december 31, 2009   5,975 6,035
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expense recOgnized in the incOme statement

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar    2009 2008

curreNt servIce costs    406 408
INterest oN peNsIoN oblIgatIoN    714 879
expected returN oN plaN assets    (493) (556)

     627 731

the expense is recognized in Personnel costs and benefits. 

principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date (expressed as weighted averages):
     2009 2008

dIscouNt rate at december 31, 2009    4.10% 4.61%
expected returN oN plaN assets at december 31, 2009    4.10% 4.10%

assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published statistics and mortality tables. 

24. prOvisiOns

    return heavy 
   cOst maintenance 
IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar anti-trust legal prOvisiOn prOgram tOtal

balaNce at jaNuary 1, 2009 233,614 6,000 11,923 9,741 261,278
provIsIoNs made durINg the year 17,099 3,365 3,639 2,367 26,470
effect of Net preseNt value oN provIsIoNs 8,786 - 1,372 1,015 11,173
provIsIoNs used durINg the year (13,593) (5,365) - - (18,958)
provIsIoNs reversed durINg the year (23,056) - - (3,077) (26,133)
provIsIoN reclassIfIed durINg the year (99,431) - - - (99,431)
effect of exchaNge 2,928 - - - 2,928

balance at december 31, 2009 126,347 4,000 16,934 10,046 157,327

NoN-curreNt 68,563 - 16,934 10,046 95,543
curreNt 57,784 4,000 - - 61,784

 126,347 4,000 16,934 10,046 157,327

provisions constituted with respect of the anti-trust proceedings the group is involved in and a provision constituted for related legal fees are discussed in Note 12 above. following 
the settlement with the department of justice (doj), the provision constituted with respect of the group’s exposure regarding a possible fine has been transferred to Trade and other 
payables.

the provision of us$ 16.9 million represents the net present value of maintenance cost expected to be incurred to deliver the aircraft under operating leases to the lessor at lease-end in 
conformity with the delivery conditions stipulated in the respective lease agreements. 

the group is the lessee under five (2008: five) operating leases for b747-400f aircraft. for the leased aircraft the cost of major aircraft overhaul or so-called “d-checks” is provisioned and 
charged to operating expenses in the line item Aircraft maintenance expenses, based on the estimated remaining number of years until the next major overhaul.
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25. trade payables and Other payables

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar    2009 2008

trade payables    54,026 41,549
geNeral aNd admINIstratIoN    2,541 1,025
maINteNaNce    28,663 15,545
fuel    12,794 19,152
haNdlINg, laNdINg aNd overflyINg    27,177 25,994
truckINg, reforwardINg aNd truck haNdlINg    8,240 8,011
INceNtIve aNd worldwIde commIssIoNs    10,762 15,488
reNtals uNder aIrcraft operatINg leases    838 1,815
INsuraNce    258 1,575
persoNNel    4,612 5,920
socIal securIty    3,955 3,888
dIvIdeNds payable    - 20,004
derIvatIves lIabIlItIes oN fuel    9,787 36,398
derIvatIves lIabIlItIes oN INterest rate     38,689 22,441
derIvatIves lIabIlItIes oN forex     142 2,803
deposIts receIved    12,599 -
aNtI-trust fINe payable to doj    20,704 -
deferred INcome    8,500 -
mIscellaNeous    16,331 13,091

current trade payables and Other payables    260,618 234,699

aNtI-trust fINe payable to doj    78,727 -

nOn-current trade payables and Other payables    78,727 -

26. Operating leases

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar    2009 2008

less thaN oNe year    54,830 49,585
betweeN oNe aNd fIve years    126,420 140,965
more thaN fIve years    56,861 20,312

the present value of minimum lease payments related to operating leases of aircraft and the hangar facility amounted to us$ 218.7 million (2008: us$ 185.2 million) at the balance sheet 
date. this present value was calculated using actual rental terms and a discount factor equal to libor respectively euribor rates at december 31.
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27. capital cOmmitments

In 2009 boeing announced a further delay in its delivery 
schedule of the b747-8f aircraft with the first aircraft de-
liveries to occur now only in the fourth quarter of 2010. In 
december 2009, the group and boeing signed a delivery 
delay settlement agreement including new delivery dates. 
as at the balance sheet date, the group had firm purchase 
orders for 13 b747-8f aircraft (2008: 13 b747-8f aircraft) 
to be delivered from 2010 to 2014. based on prices pu-
blished by manufacturers the total amount of the above 
investments is close to us$ 4 billion. all aircraft deliveries 
are subject to further change.

In addition the group holds options to purchase two further 
b747-8f aircraft with delivery slots in 2014 and 2015, res-
pectively (exact delivery dates to be confirmed).

In connection with aircraft purchases, the group routinely 
makes down payments to manufacturers. such advance 
payments are recorded under Other property, plant and 
equipment or Deposits with third parties depending on 
whether or not the group keeps the risks and rewards of 
the asset.

28. cOntingencies

legal prOceedings

the group is party to legal proceedings, both as defendant 
and claimant, from time to time in the normal course of its 
business. In addition, the group is subject to investiga-
tions and proceedings from anti-trust authorities in the 
eu, canada, New zealand, south africa, south korea and 
switzerland in connection with a worldwide investigation 
of air cargo carriers regarding alleged price fixing practices 
and the exchange of confidential information. the group is 
responding to requests for information submitted by the 
authorities. In 2009, the group entered into settlement 
agreements with the anti-trust authorities of the us (doj) 
and australia (accc).

additionally, civil lawsuits have been launched in the us 
and in canada against a number of air carriers, including 
the group. the group has constituted provisions to cover 
the group’s exposure with respect of the anti-trust procee-

dings initiated by the eu commission, the commerce com-
mission of New zealand and the anti-trust authorities of the 
korean fair trade commission (kftc) of south korea, the 
competition bureau of canada and the competition com-
mission of switzerland against the group (see also Notes 
12 and 24 above). the outcome of the anti-trust procee-
dings in other jurisdictions and of the civil lawsuits cannot 
be determined with sufficient precision at this point in time 
and therefore, no provision has been recorded in the 2009 
accounts with respect thereto. If determined against the 
group, the outcome of these lawsuits could have a material 
adverse impact on the financial condition of the group. 

29. related parties

identity Of related parties

the group has a related party relationship with sharehol-
ders, its subsidiaries, associates and with its directors and 
executive officers.

key management persOnnel and directOrs 

In addition to their salaries, the group also provides cash 
(described below) and non-cash benefits (company car 
and fuel card) to members of the executive committee and 
4 area vice-presidents and contributes (as for other group 
employees) to a defined contribution plan and to an acci-
dent/invalidity insurance on their behalf.

In 2006, four members of the executive committee were 
granted a total of 4,450 share options at a strike price of 
eur 83.09 under a cash-settled share based payment 
scheme terminating 5 years after the grant date.

the compensations of the executive committee and heads 
of areas are as follows:

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008

salarIes aNd profIt sharINg 3,472 3,143
coNtrIbutIoN to peNsIoN scheme 
aNd accIdeNt/INvalIdIty INsuraNce 656 664

  4,128 3,807

these amounts, which are paid in euros, are included in  
Personnel costs and benefits (see Note 11). In january 
2009, a new executive committee member was nomina-

ted and in November 2009 a further executive committee 
member left the group. the end-of-contract benefits paya-
ble to the leaving executive are reflected in “salaries and 
profit sharing”. members of the executive committee and 
the heads of area voluntarily agreed to a 10% salary cut in 
april.

directors are given an annual fee for their supervisory work 
on behalf of the group. In addition board members who sit 
on the compensation committee, the audit committee or 
the strategy committee of the board are paid attendance 
fees. the total remuneration of directors was as follows:

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008

dIrectors 351 448

In 2009, the directors accepted to reduce their director’s 
fee by 10%.   

sharehOlders

    the group pays handling fees and other service char-
ges to luxair in luxembourg. the amount charged 
to operations for such services was us$ 66.2 million 
(2008: us$ 69.3 million). 

    Interest and commissions of approximately us$ 1.2 
million (2008: us$ 1.3 million) were paid in 2009 and 
us$ 0.01 million (2008: us$ 0.1 million) of investment 
income was received in 2009 from banks which are 
shareholders. 

    the group receives freight and maintenance revenues 
from luxair. the amount invoiced was approximately 
us$ 0.5 million (2008: us$ 0.5 million).
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assOciates

during the year ended december 31, 2009 the group paid 
us$ 38.5 million (2008: us$ 28.3 million) for It services 
to champ cargosystems s.a., through-put fees of us$ 0.6 
million (2008: us$ 1.1 million) to luxfuel s.a. and aircraft 
rentals of us$ 16.6 million (2008: us$ 24.4 million) and 
lease payments of us$ 8.7 million to subsidiaries of frei-
ghter leasing s.a.

year end balances arising from sales purchases and servi-
ces are as follows: 

accOunts receivable and depOsit frOm related 
parties:

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008

assocIates 1,752 2,058
shareholders 43,318 23,560

  45,070 25,618

accOunts payable and lOan tO related parties:

IN thousaNds of u.s. dollar 2009 2008

assocIates 3,145 3,011
shareholders 9,699 47,230

  12,844 50,241

30. grOup entities

subsidiaries

 couNtry of  dIrect owNershIp 
 INcorporatIoN 2009 2008

cargolux re s.a. luxembourg 100 100
cargolux ItalIa s.p.a. Italy 40 -
ItalIa aerologIstIcs s.r.l. Italy 98 -

31. accOunting estimates and judgments

certain critical accounting judgments in applying the 
group’s accounting policies are described below. 

finance and Operating leases

the group entered into a lease arrangement in relation with 
the hangar it operates in luxembourg. the lease contains 
3 extension options for incremental 5 year lease periods. 
this option can be exercised for the first time on the 15th 
anniversary of the lease, i.e. on june 15, 2024.

In determining lease classification the group evalua-
ted whether substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership were transferred to the group. specifically, it 
was not considered as reasonably certain, at the inception 
of the lease, that the group will operate the hangar beyond 
15 years. 

based on this judgment, it is concluded that the lease is an 
operating lease.

deferred tax asset

the deferred tax asset is based on the most recent busi-
ness plan available at each balance sheet date.

heavy maintenance check

the timing of “c” and “d-check” is determined in accordan-
ce with the group’s maintenance program which is based 
on recommendations of the manufacturer and is approved 
by the civil aviation authorities (dac). the amount provisio-
ned is based on prices derived from contractual arrange-
ments concluded with providers and are discounted to the 
balance sheet date. as of july 2009 the group performs the 
major overhaul “c-checks” in-house.

prOvisiOn 

the recognition of a provision requires that the manage-
ment is in the position to make a reliable estimate of the 
amount of the obligation resulting from past events. when 
no reliable estimate can be made, a contingent liability is 
disclosed.

impairment test and residual values Of aircraft

management estimate of residual values is reassessed 
yearly on the basis of the current and future estimated 
market values published by external appraisers and on the 
basis of observable transactions. where appropriate this 
review may lead to revisions to the residual values from 
the current estimate.

32. subsequent events  

on march 12, 2010 the company signed a letter of Intent 
with air atlanta regarding a 2-year dry lease to fully benefit 
from the improved market conditions and replace the air-
craft that will be delivered to silkway prior to the 2010 high 
season. the lease, to commence on april 1, 2010, can be 
terminated prematurely subject to a 3 months cancellation 
notice and the payment of a penalty, the amount of which 
decreases over time.

on march 19, 2010, the company signed a memorandum of 
understanding with the delegations and unions. this mou 
foresees that the collective work agreement which expired 
in 2009 will be re-conducted for a 2-year period ending on 
december 31, 2010. the mou further provides that the 13th 
month payment of december would be postponed in whole 
or in part if the company incurs further losses in 2010.
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Report on the consolidated financial statements  
we have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of cargolux airlines International s.a., which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at december 31, 2009 
and the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes as set out on pages 50 to 80. 

board of directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial statements 

the board of directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International financial reporting standards 
as adopted by the european union. this responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates 
that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

responsibility of the réviseur d’entreprises 

our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. we conducted our audit in accordance with International standards on auditing 
as adopted by the Institut des réviseurs d’entreprises. those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. the procedures selected depend on the 
judgement of the réviseur d’entreprises, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the réviseur d’entreprises considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. an audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the board of directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

we believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements as set out on pages 50 to 80 give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of cargolux airlines International s.a. as of 
december 31, 2009, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International financial reporting standards 
as adopted by the european union. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

the directors’ report, which is the responsibility of the board of directors, is consistent with the consolidated financial statements. 

luxembourg, march 22, 2010
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Consolidated FinanCial statements 
report of the revIseur d’eNtreprIses 

To the Shareholders of Cargolux Airlines International S.A. Luxembourg Airport L-2990 Sandweiler.

report oF the  
reviseur  

d’entreprises

kpmg audit société à responsabilité limitée
9, allée scheffer l-2520 luxembourg
r.c.s. luxembourg b 103.590
capital 25.000 eur

kpmg audit s.à r.l.  
réviseurs d’entreprises

thierry ravasiO
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eurOpean rOad feeder netwOrk frOm 
and tO luxembOurg 

◦   trucking services out of cargolux’s online stations

  ad hoc trucking can be arranged upon client’s request, 
please contact our cargo services office for additional 
information.

austria
graz
linz
salzburg
vienna

belgium
antwerp
brussels

czech republic

prague

denmark

billund
copenhagen

finland

helsinki

france
lille
lyon
marseille
mulhouse
paris
strasbourg

germany
berlin
bremen
cologne
dortmund
dresden
dusseldorf
frankfurt
hamburg
hanover
leipzig
Nuremberg
munich
munster-osnabruck
stuttgart

hungary
budapest

italy
bologna
civitanova marche
florence
milan
rome
turin
venice

netherlands
amsterdam
maastricht
rotterdam

nOrway
oslo

pOrtugal
lisbon
porto

spain
alicante
barcelona
bilbao
madrid
valencia
zaragoza

sweden
gothenburg
malmoe
stockholm

switzerland
basle
geneva
zurich

united kingdOm
london
manchester
prestwick
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rOad feeder netwOrk 
frOm prestwick

aberdeen
birmingham
cork
dublin
glasgow
london
manchester
shannon

rOad feeder netwOrk 
frOm budapest and vienna

belgrade
bratislava
bucharest
krakow
linz
ljubliana
prague

sarajevo
sofia
vienna
warsaw
wroclaw
zagreb

rOad feeder netwOrk 
frOm maastricht

luxembourg

rOad feeder netwOrk 
frOm istanbul

adana
ankara
Izmir

rOad feeder netwOrk 
frOm barcelOna

alicante porto
bilbao valencia
lisbon zaragoza
madrid

rOad feeder netwOrk 
frOm milan

bologna  Naples
civitanova marche turin
fiumicino  venice
genova  verona

european truCking
network
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photo credits

The black and white photos illustrating this 
report are 360 degree panoramas that were 
taken using a special rotating camera.  
The curvy shapes are the result of this  
rotational movement. In real life Cargolux’s 
aircraft have retained their classic 747 shape.

all photos by cargolux airlines  
International s.a., except:
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